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1 
COMPLAINT 

JANE DOE vs. POWAY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT, ET AL.
 

Justin G. Reden, Bar No. 230068
Michael J. Riddell, Bar No. 252918 
Collin E. Cresap, Bar No. 342752 
REDEN | RIDDELL
16885 Via Del Campo Court, Suite 320 
San Diego, CA 92127 
Telephone: (619) 758-3869 
Email: jreden@redenriddell.com 
Email: mriddell@redenriddell.com
Email: ccresap@redenriddell.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff, JANE DOE, a minor by and through 
her parent and guardian ad litem JOHN DOE 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO

JANE DOE, a minor, by and through her parent 
and Guardian ad Litem, JOHN DOE, an 
individual, 

Plaintiff, 
vs. 

 
POWAY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT, a 
California public entity; DEL NORTE HIGH 
SCHOOL, a California public entity; MARIAN 
PHELPS, an individual; JAMES DAYOFF, an 
individual; DAVE LEMASTER, an individual; 
MIKE GIAIMI, an individual; MICHELLE 
O’CONNOR-RATCLIFF, an individual, 
DARSHANA PATEL, an individual, HEATHER 
PLOTZKE, an individual, CINDY SYTSMA, an 
individual, GINGER COUVRETTE, an 
individual, and DOES 1 through 100, inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 

 

 
 
 

)
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No.  
 
COMPLAINT  
 

1. Violation of First Amendment, as 
applied to the states under the  
Fourteenth Amendment; 42 U.S.C. 
§1983 

2. Violation of Article I, Section 2(a) of 
California State Constitution; 42 
U.S.C. §1983 

3. Violation of Section 48950 of 
California Education Code 

4. Violation of Section 48907 of 
California Education Code 

5. Violation of the Fourteenth 
Amendment; 42 U.S.C. §1983 

6. Violation of the Equal Protection 
Clause of the California Constitution; 
42 U.S.C. §1983 

7. Violation of Article IX of the 
California Constitution; 42 U.S.C. 
§1983 

8. Intentional Infliction of Emotional 
Distress; Harassment; Retaliation 

9. Negligent Infliction of Emotional 
Distress; Harassment; Retaliation 

10. Violation of Education Code and 
PUSD Policies 

11. Negligence: Failure to Train, 
Supervise, and Discipline Employees 

12. Negligence: Failure to Supervise and 
Prevent Foreseeable Harm to Students

 
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
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2 
COMPLAINT 

JANE DOE vs. POWAY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT, ET AL.
 

Plaintiff, a minor, by and through her parent and proposed guardian ad litem JOHN DOE

(“Plaintiff”), initiates this legal action for injuries and damages against Defendants POWAY 

UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT; DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL; MARIAN PHELPS; JAMES 

DAYHOFF; DAVE LEMASTER; MIKE GIAIMI; MICHELLE O’CONNOR-RATCLIFF, 

DARSHANA PATEL, HEATHER PLOTZKE, CINDY SYTSMA, GINGER COUVRETTE, and 

DOES 1–100, inclusive, (“Defendants”) as a result of the injuries and damages that Plaintiff

sustained. This lawsuit is brought to address and seek damages for violations of Plaintiff’s state, 

federal and constitutional, statutory, and common law rights, committed by Defendants, as follows: 

I. JURISDICTION AND VENUE. 

1. The subject matter of this action is set forth in this Complaint. 

2. This court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants POWAY UNIFIED SCHOOL 

DISTRICT and DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL because it is a public entity funded by state and 

federal funds, providing public education services in the State of California in San Diego County. 

3. This court has personal jurisdiction over each individual Defendant because each

resides and works in the State of California in San Diego County. 

4. Venue is proper since Defendant is a public entity based in the County of San Diego 

and the events giving rise to this claim occurred in the County of San Diego.  

5. Plaintiff’s claims are timely as prescribed by California Government Code §910, et 

seq. as they are filed within 6 months of Defendants rejection of their submitted tort claims or are 

otherwise excepted or exempted from compliance.  

II. PARTIES. 

6. All facts and allegations presented in this Complaint occurred during the relevant 

times pertaining to the claims asserted, unless specified otherwise.

7. Plaintiff is a minor residing in San Diego County. Plaintiff is referred to under the 

pseudonym “Plaintiff” or “JANE DOE.” This measure is taken to safeguard her legitimate privacy 

interests, and to mitigate concerns of potential retaliation and retribution. This precaution is 

particularly pertinent due to the sensitive and personal nature of the harm and emotional distress 

that the Plaintiff has endured. See, Doe v. Lincoln Unified School Dist. (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 758, 
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JANE DOE vs. POWAY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT, ET AL.
 

766).

8. JOHN DOE is Plaintiff’s father. He files this action on Plaintiff’s behalf as 

Plaintiff’s guardian ad litem. Plaintiff’s father is referred to under the pseudonym “JOHN DOE.” 

This measure is taken to safeguard his legitimate privacy interests, and to mitigate concerns of 

potential retaliation and retribution. This precaution is particularly pertinent due to the sensitive and 

personal nature of the harm and emotional distress that his daughter, and family, has endured. See, 

Doe v. Lincoln Unified School Dist. (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 758, 766).

9. Due to confidentiality concerns, JANE DOE and JOHN DOE’s identities will be 

disclosed to Defendants simultaneous to the service of this Complaint, but on a separate document 

that should not be made a part of the public file. 

10. Defendant POWAY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT (“PUSD”) is a public entity

located at 15250 Avenue of Science, San Diego, California. It receives state and/or federal funding. 

It is a public and government entity duly incorporated and operating as a school district in the 

County of San Diego, State of California, and under the laws of the State of California, with the 

capacity to be sued. PUSD is a “State” as defined by the California Constitution, Article 1, Section 

31, subdivision (f). PUSD is the legal entity responsible for provision of educational services to 

students residing within their jurisdiction. PUSD is sued on the basis of the acts and omissions of 

its officials, agents, employees, independent contractors, and/or DOES 1-100.  

11. Defendant DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL is a high school located at 16601 

Nighthawk Lane, San Diego, California. It is within the jurisdiction of PUSD, and under its 

direction and control. 

12. Plaintiff is and was enrolled as a student at DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL. 

13. Defendant MARIAN PHELPS is and was the superintendent at PUSD, acting as an 

employee and agent of PUSD, and acting or purporting to act in her official capacity as such. She is 

vested with the authority to discipline students within the school district at her discretion, and to 

enforce the policies of the district.

14. Defendant JAMES DAYHOFF is and was the Director of Discipline at PUSD, 

acting as an employee and agent of PUSD, and acting or purporting to act in his official capacity as 
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such. He is vested with the authority to discipline students within the school district at his

discretion, and to enforce the policies of the district.

15. Defendant DAVE LEMASTER is and was the Executive Director II, Secondary of 

Learning Support Services at PUSD, acting as an employee and agent of PUSD, and acting or 

purporting to act in his official capacity as such. He is vested with the authority to discipline 

students within the school district at his discretion, and to enforce the policies of the district.

16. Defendant BRYAN SCHULTZ is and was the Principal at DEL NORTE HIGH 

SCHOOL during the 2022-2023 school year, acting as an employee and agent of PUSD, and acting 

or purporting to act in his official capacity as such. He is vested with the authority to discipline 

students within the school district at his discretion, and to enforce the policies of the district.

17. Defendant MIKE GIAIMI is and was the Assistant Principal at DEL NORTE HIGH 

SCHOOL, acting as an employee and agent of PUSD, and acting or purporting to act in his official 

capacity as such. He is vested with the authority to discipline students within the school district at 

his discretion, and to enforce the policies of the district. 

18. Defendant MICHELLE O’CONNOR-RATCLIFF is and was the Vice-President of 

the PUSD Board of Education who has ultimate oversight and control of the other Defendants and 

the district.  

19. Defendant DARSHANA PATEL is and was the President of the PUSD Board of 

Education who has ultimate oversight and control of the other Defendants and the district.

20. Defendant HEATHER PLOTZKE is and was a member of the PUSD Board of 

Education who has ultimate oversight and control of the other Defendants and the district.

21. Defendant CINDY SYTSMA is and was the Clerk of the PUSD Board of Education

who has ultimate oversight and control of the other Defendants and the district.

22. Defendant GINGER COUVRETTE is and was a member of the PUSD Board of 

Education who has ultimate oversight and control of the other Defendants and the district.

23. PUSD and its employees, trustees, and agents, including without limitation 

Defendants MARIAN PHELPS, JAMES DAYHOFF, DAVE LEMASTER, BRYAN SCHULTZ, 

MIKE GIAIMI, MICHELLE O’CONNOR-RATCLIFF, DARSHANA PATEL, HEATHER 
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PLOTZKE, CINDY SYTSMA, and GINGER COUVRETTE were acting in their individual and 

official capacities and under the color of law of the state of California.

24. California Government Code §815.2(a) provides a statutory basis for the causes of 

action sounding in tort or otherwise asserted against PUSD and DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL. 

Government Code §815.2(a) states, “[a] public entity is liable for injury proximately caused by an 

act or omission of an employee of the public entity within the scope of his employment if the act or 

omission would, apart from this section, have given rise to a cause of action against that employee . 

. ..” See also, C.A., a minor v. Williams S. Hart Union High School District 53 Cal.4th 861. 

25. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate or otherwise, 

of Defendants and Does 1 through 100, inclusive, are unknown to Plaintiff, who therefore sues 

them by such fictitious names. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that each of 

the Defendants fictitiously named as a Doe is legally responsible in some manner for the events and 

happenings referred to in this Complaint, and proximately caused the injuries and damages to 

Plaintiff. Plaintiff will seek leave of court to amend this Complaint to set forth the true names and 

capacities of the fictitiously named Defendants when they have been ascertained.  

26. Plaintiff is informed and believes that at all times mentioned in this Complaint, 

Defendants, and each of them, including Does 1 through 100, inclusive, were the agents, servants, 

employees, and/or joint venturers of each co-defendant and were, as such, acting within the course, 

scope and authority of the agency, employment, or joint venture, and that each, when acting as a 

principal, was negligent in the selection and hiring of each and every other Defendant as an agent, 

employee and/or joint venturer. 

III. FACTS AND GENERAL ALLEGATIONS. 

27. Plaintiff was a member of the DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL varsity softball team 

for the 2022-2023 academic year.

28. During the 2022-2023 academic year, Plaintiff was a junior, with one remaining 

year at DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL. 

29. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS was, and is, heavily involved in the DEL 

NORTE HIGH SCHOOL varsity softball team as her daughter J.P. participated on the team, and 
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directly competed with Plaintiff for the position of pitcher.

30. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS constructed a narrative falsely suggesting 

Plaintiff bullied J.P. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS has repeatedly exhibited 

inappropriate interactions with Plaintiff and other students, followed Plaintiff online, and others 

persistently, and intimidated Plaintiff and other softball student-players. The behaviors exhibited 

encompass gaslighting, retaliation, harassment, threats, bullying, and intimidation, all aimed at 

inflicting emotional distress on Plaintiff, and stifling her freedom of speech and expression. These 

inappropriate actions targeted not only Plaintiff, but also other softball student-players. We are 

informed and believe that SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS’ aggressive behavior is rooted 

in what she unilaterally perceives to be an intense rivalry between her daughter, J.P., and one of the 

team’s other pitchers, Plaintiff. It appears that SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS’ ultimate 

goal is to hinder Plaintiff from competing for pitching time with her daughter or prevent her from 

playing on the softball team altogether. 

31. Due to SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS unfounded and false allegations, 

she instituted, controlled, and orchestrated an illegitimate and biased internal “investigation” that 

resulted in Plaintiff being barred from all extracurricular activities for a significant portion of the 

2023-2024 academic year. This effectively excluded Plaintiff from the potential to participate on 

the DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL softball team during her senior year, as well as exclusion from 

attendance at athletic events, dances, field trips, student clubs, activities, and graduation. 

32. On July 16, 2023, Defendant JAMES DAYHOFF sent an email to Plaintiff's parents 

containing a document labeled “Other Means of Correction Contract (Alternative to Removal from 

Extracurricular Activities)” ("OMCC"). We are informed and believe SUPERINTENDENT 

MARIAN PHELPS drafted or directed and participated in the drafting and content of the OMCC. 

The parents were threatened that if they did not sign this document within 16 hours and 30 minutes, 

Plaintiff might be deemed ineligible for extracurricular activities. The OMCC mandated signatures 

from both Plaintiff and her parents, requiring them to admit to and acknowledge acts she did not 

commit. This version of the OMCC was one that was slightly revised from an earlier version 

presented on July 3, 2023 by DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL Principal Ty Eveleth. The OMCC 
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violates the legal and constitutional rights of Plaintiff and her parents. It attempts to preemptively 

restrict Plaintiff's right to free speech and attempts to force both Plaintiff and her parents into a 

specific narrative, infringing on the doctrine against compelled speech. Furthermore, it hinders 

Plaintiff’s lawful right to public participation. Plaintiff is informed and believes that the OMCC, 

either directly or indirectly, is a product of SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS's ongoing 

campaign to harass, intimidate, threaten, bully, and manipulate her. Notably, Defendant JAMES 

DAYHOFF told Plaintiff’s parents “we have no jurisdiction over the seniors as they graduated. We 

do have jurisdiction over [Plaintiff] and can punish her.”

33. On July 23, 2023, Plaintiff's attorney sent email correspondence to PUSD, 

announcing his representation and highlighting concerns about potential discrimination, 

misconduct, breaches, and conflicts of interest infecting the purported “investigation.” The letter 

also extended an invitation for a future meeting to delve deeper into these issues. Additionally, this 

letter acted as Plaintiff's request for public records and a directive to preserve evidence. PUSD was 

informed that an administrative Complaint would soon be filed. This communication was directed 

to PUSD employees and agents, Defendant DAVID LEMASTER, and Defendant JAMES 

DAYHOFF. A true and correct copy of the July 23, 2023 correspondence to PUSD, redacted, is 

attached as Exhibit 1.  

34. Instead of directly addressing the letter from Plaintiff’s attorney dated July 23, 2023, 

PUSD chose to have their attorney respond, which he did on August 8, 2023. PUSD's reply, in 

diplomatic terms, seemed to sidestep the core issues and concerns highlighted in Plaintiff's initial 

communication. On behalf of PUSD, the attorney doubles down on Defendant JAMES 

DAYHOFF’s earlier demands that Plaintiff and her parents sign the unconstitutional OMCC. A 

true and correct copy of the August 8, 2023 response from PUSD, redacted, is attached as Exhibit 

2. Initially, PUSD appears to do damage control and downplay the situation, disingenuously 

suggesting that Plaintiff isn't facing disciplinary action and that no suspension was even

“threatened” or “contemplated.” They misrepresent the situation as merely revoking a discretionary 

"privilege", which in reality, denies Plaintiff the chance to engage in all extracurricular activities, 

including her cherished aspiration of playing softball in her senior year. PUSD seems to imply that 
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there's no need for an appeal process since, in their view, no formal disciplinary action was being 

taken against Plaintiff. Furthermore, PUSD posits that even if there were disciplinary measures, 

they wouldn’t be obligated to prove any misconduct nor involve Plaintiff's parents before 

implementing a suspension. PUSD’s reply falls short and fails to acknowledge the serious concerns 

at hand and irreparable harm this fabricated situation has caused to Plaintiff and her family.

35. Plaintiff challenged the findings of the initial investigation directly to the PUSD 

Board of Education, detailed her complaints against Defendants, and requested a completely 

impartial third-party to undertake a fresh review. Plaintiff submitted 26 witness statements to 

PUSD and its individual trustees, Defendants MICHELLE O’CONNOR-RATCLIFF, 

DARSHANA PATEL, HEATHER PLOTZKE, CINDY SYTSMA, and GINGER COUVRETTE. 

Because there was now a complaint pending against the PUSD Superintendent and Defendants 

under her influence and control, the individual trustees were now responsible for investigating and 

taking action on Plaintiff’s complaint. The witness statements clearly and reliably refute the 

veracity of the summaries appearing in the investigative reports, prepared by PUSD administrators. 

We are informed and believe SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS exerted influence, 

pressure, and control over her subordinates to handle and steer the “investigation” to guarantee her 

desired outcome of a finding against Plaintiff. We are informed and believe SUPERINTENDENT 

MARIAN PHELPS instituted, controlled, and orchestrated the “investigation” and its outcome, 

including the contents of the OMCC. Given the notable conflicts of interest, bias, influence, 

pressure, control, and procedural and factual discrepancies in the initial “investigation,” it was 

crucial that an independent third-party investigator who is free from any potential influence, 

intimidation, or guidance from SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS, or anyone aligned with 

or under her sphere of influence, pressure, control or intimidation, be assigned to conduct the 

investigation. Defendants ignored Plaintiff’s requests for this due process and procedural fairness.

36. Plaintiff was not allowed to participate in extracurricular activities from July 3, 2023 

to September 15, 2023, when she eventually signed the OMCC under duress and against her free 

will. The only reason she signed the OMCC was because she was emotionally distraught beyond 

tolerable levels. She was not allowed to participate in any school events including but not 
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necessarily limited to, football games, field hockey games, and school sponsored club events such 

as Best Buddies and Students Transforming Through Christ. This was devastating to Plaintiff at the 

start of her precious senior year in high school. No student should ever be forced to suffer in this 

way at the hands of an administrator or teacher. What Plaintiff has gone through is unimaginable.  

37. We are informed and believe SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS is 

manipulating the dubious investigation and its "investigators" as instruments in her campaign to 

harass, bully, threaten, and intimidate Plaintiff and other students.  

38. We are informed and believe the other Defendants are acting in conspiracy, 

coordination, and concert with SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS with respect to her 

relentless pursuit of Plaintiff. 

Plaintiff and J.P. History 

39. Both Plaintiff and J.P. serve as pitchers for the DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL 

varsity softball team, along with other pitchers competing for the prime spot in the circle and 

valuable playing time on the field. 

40. Their relationship, for the most part, has been amicable, but J.P. has openly admitted 

that when Plaintiff and she were freshmen, she “hated” Plaintiff. The reasons she proffered were 

that she saw Plaintiff as direct competition for her place on the team.  

41. Plaintiff’s experience was that J.P. would blatantly try and ignore Plaintiff’s 

presence on the team during their freshmen year.  

42. We are informed and believe SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS has 

undertaken the role of intimidating, bullying, threatening, and harassing Plaintiff, aiming to 

eliminate Plaintiff as a rival for that sought-after position in the circle. 

Night of the Softball Banquet 

43. On May 30, 2023, DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL softball held an end of the year 

banquet for junior varsity and varsity teams.  

44. Parents and Players were present at the banquet and awards ceremony. There are 

multiple eye witness accounts of the entire night, which relate to the false accusations raised by 

SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS against Plaintiff. There, also, is video evidence, and 
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public testimony, that is contrary to SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS’s false accusations 

against Plaintiff. 

45. The banquet was a terrific celebration of all the players and an opportunity for all to 

come together and give a final send off to the departing seniors. 

46. J.P. was awarded the most valuable player for the DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL 

varsity softball team. Not that anyone was required to do so, there was resounding support from 

those in attendance who cheered and/or clapped for J.P. as she received her award. 

47. Other players received applause and cheers while they accepted other awards. 

48. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS and her daughter were seemingly 

disgruntled as they felt her daughter, J.P., did not receive loud enough applause compared to other 

players accepting awards. She apparently felt others were obligated to clap more enthusiastically 

for her daughter. J.P. issued a written statement stating the table full of senior softball players and 

Plaintiff “would cheer in a loud and overly exaggerated way for certain players and then not at all 

for me.” In her statement, she accuses her teammates of feeling “jealousy” and “hate” towards her. 

Instead of self-reflection as to why someone may not feel motivated to clap loud for her, she labels 

those people as jealous and hateful.  

49. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS independently concocted the false notion 

that Plaintiff, being J.P.' pitching counterpart, must have orchestrated a scheme to influence some 

or all senior softball players to withhold applause when J.P. received her award. 

50. The banquet ended at or around 9:00 p.m. that night. At 11:04 p.m. 

SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS made unsolicited contact with a senior DEL NORTE 

HIGH SCHOOL varsity softball player, M.A. who was a minor at the time. SUPERINTENDENT 

MARIAN PHELPS did not obtain permission from, or alert M.A.’s parents that she was contacting 

their daughter or intended to interrogate her. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS first text 

messaged M.A., and then called her. Attached are true and correct copies of screen shots of text 

messages and call logs with SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS and M.A., Exhibit 3.  In a 

post-call text message sent to M.A., SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS accuses M.A. of 

telling a different story, and reiterates earlier threats of discipline against the various softball 
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players. She states “[b]ut it is what it is and we will follow up on our end from an administration 

standpoint.” She then sarcastically states, “thank you and have a good rest of the week.” 

51. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS kept M.A. on the phone for 

approximately thirty-two minutes and nearly until midnight. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN 

PHELPS, a PUSD employee, engaged in inappropriate behavior and relations with a PUSD student 

in violation of multiple laws and PUSD employee policy. We are informed by M.A., and believe, 

that during that call, SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS engaged in the following 

discussion:

a. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS employed intimidating and 

manipulative strategies to extract “information” from M.A., clearly aimed to bolster her 

unfounded conspiracy narrative against Plaintiff. 

b. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS shifted to using disparaging and 

derogatory language directed at Plaintiff. She expressed her belief that Plaintiff did not 

deserve to be defensive player of the year. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS stated 

she would use her “power” to prevent Plaintiff from becoming co-captain of the team 

alongside J.P. She emphasized J.P.’ qualifications for captain and mentioned 30-40 colleges 

are recruiting her, while suggesting that Plaintiff doesn’t have anyone recruiting her and if 

she was asked, Plaintiff could not name one school. 

c. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS made an admission against her 

own interest regarding a previous complaint against J.P. for harassing and bullying another 

softball player, G.B. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS told M.A. that she asserted 

her influence to have J.P.’ name removed from a complaint by G.B. that J.P. and another 

student were bullying her.

d. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS conveyed a threat to have Plaintiff

transferred from DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL to another school for her senior year, and 

that regardless of where Plaintiff attended school for the 2023-2024 academic year, 

SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS would ensure that Plaintiff had a “lonely year.” 

e. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS then made threats aimed at the 
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entire senior softball group that either they admit that they orchestrated a conspiracy to not 

clap for J.P. at the softball banquet or that SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS would 

ensure that none of the senior softball players would be allowed to walk at graduation. 

52. We are informed by M.A. and believe, that out of fear of SUPERINTENDENT 

MARIAN PHELPS’s threats, during the call M.A. placated her bizarre accusations until she was 

finally able to get off the phone with her. M.A. did not admit to or ever state that a conspiracy to 

not clap for J.P. ever existed.  

53. M.A. or her parents never consented, nor did she ever give SUPERINTENDENT 

MARIAN PHELPS her number. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS obtained it from an 

unknown third-party and on prior occasions, unilaterally began socializing with M.A. without her 

parents’ permission in violation of multiple laws and PUSD employee policies. 

54. We are informed by M.A. and believe, that she was intimidated, shocked, and 

scared, by SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS.

Subsequent Actions of Superintendent MARIAN PHELPS 

55. On May 31, 2023, the morning after SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS 

interrogated and intimidated M.A., SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS had a thirty-minute 

phone call with Plaintiff’s mother. During that call, SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS 

engaged in the following discussion: 

a. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS persistently pursued her false 

conspiracy narrative, repeatedly probing her about the reasons for Plaintiff's purported 

animosity towards J.P. and her alleged orchestration with the seniors to withhold applause 

for J.P. during her award recognition at the banquet.  

b. Leveraging her position of influence over Plaintiff, SUPERINTENDENT 

MARIAN PHELPS employed more subtle strategies to extract information. She framed the 

conversation as a casual "mom to mom" chat, insinuating that any concerns would be 

settled informally between the parents of Plaintiff and J.P., rather than through official 

PUSD channels.

c. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS asserted that the involvement of 
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coaches and administration was unnecessary. However, this claim was proven to be 

misleading when it was revealed that, prior to this conversation, SUPERINTENDENT 

MARIAN PHELPS had already engaged in discussions with both the head coach and the 

DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL administration. 

d. Plaintiff’s mother sought specifics regarding the allegations and any 

evidence or facts that might substantiate SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS' 

conspiracy claims. Faced with this request, SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS was 

unable to provide the requested information and instead hinted at addressing the issue in 

what she described as a “punitive” manner. 

56. From May 31, 2023, through June 10, 2023, SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN 

PHELPS began posting cryptic messages online. We are informed and believe the messages are 

directed or referring to Plaintiff, and perhaps some of the other softball players. Attached as Exhibit 

4 are true and correct copies of SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS Instagram posts. On 

multiple occasions, SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS disseminated statements on her 

public Instagram account that can be characterized as toxic and akin to online bullying: “Don’t 

make excuses for horrible people. You can’t put a flower in an asshole and call it a vase[;]” “Haters 

don’t really hate you. They hate themselves, because you’re a reflection of what they wish to be[;]” 

and “It’s actually A Blessing When people Expose Themselves[.]” These posts were openly 

accessible on SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS’s Instagram profile. We are informed and 

believe the messages are intentionally directed at, or in reference to, Plaintiff, and possibly other 

members of the softball team.

57. Around June 6, 2023, SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS approached another 

PUSD student, M.J., inquiring if Plaintiff had masterminded a plan to withhold applause for J.P. at 

the banquet or if she had spoken negatively about J.P.  We are informed and believe M.J. refuted 

any such actions by Plaintiff. 

PUSD’s “Investigation” 

58. Defendants represented that on June 6, 2023, an “investigation” began after 

“anonymous” complaints were allegedly made against Plaintiff for bullying and harassing J.P. 
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However, we are informed and believe the “investigation” likely began on the night of the Banquet, 

May 30, 2023, when SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS text messaged, and then called and 

interviewed M.A. as a “witness” to the alleged events. We are informed and believe 

SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS instituted, controlled, and orchestrated the 

“investigation.”

59. On June 8, 2023, a DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL employee interviewed Plaintiff

regarding the allegations made against her. 

60. Plaintiff sought representation during the interview and expressed a desire for her 

parents to be in attendance.

61. Her request was denied, and the interrogation proceeded without her parents present.

62. During the questioning, Plaintiff's parents arrived and asked the lobby assistant 

several times to be present for the remainder of the session but were denied. 

63. The school refused to take testimony from senior softball players, even though 

Plaintiff’s parents said they need to be part of the investigation since they were at the table during

the banquet. The senior softball players were all too afraid to unilaterally speak up as their ability to 

attend graduation was threatened by SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS.  

64. Plaintiff agreed to the employee’s suggestion of attending a mediation session the 

following day with J.P., aiming to resolve the matter without administrative intervention. It was 

evident from the employee’s demeanor and direct statements warning that the administration was 

under significant pressure, influence, control, and held allegiances to SUPERINTENDENT 

MARIAN PHELPS and would likely act in a biased manner on her behalf.

65. After the meeting, Plaintiff and Plaintiff’s parents sought supportive witness 

statements for Plaintiff as only one had been requested or reviewed by the School. 

66. A softball player sent a group text to the entire DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL 

softball team requesting witness statements in support of Plaintiff to refute SUPERINTENDENT 

MARIAN PHELPS’ false allegations. SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS’ daughter, J.P., 

was inadvertently included on that group chat.  

67. After the text message was sent seeking witness statements in support of Plaintiff, 
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SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS removed the DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL employee 

conducting the initial investigation, from the investigation. She then seemingly directed the inquiry 

exclusively through her associates, Defendant MIKE GIAIME, and Jennie Ganesan (Ms. Ganesan), 

both assistant principals of DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL, and Ty Eveleth, the new principal of 

DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL. Defendant MIKE GIAIME was subject to conflicts of interest and 

bias, as his daughter is a player and pitcher in the DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL softball program.

We are informed and believe SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS was working closely with 

Defendant MIKE GIAIME to control and orchestrate the “investigation.”

68. Despite initially agreeing to mediate, J.P. and SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN 

PHELPS abruptly changed course and refused to attend the mediation scheduled by the school for 

June 9, 2023. 

69. We are informed and believe that on or about June 9, 2023, the day of her 

graduation ceremony, softball player P.K., was compelled by Defendant MIKE GIAIME to 

participate in an inquiry session. He intimated that any reluctance to join the session might lead to 

her being barred from participating in the graduation walk later that day.

70. According to P.K., they took possession of her phone and examined her private 

discussions without her consent or her parents' awareness. The school’s scrutiny of the text 

messages revealed no evidence of a collaborative plan to withhold applause for J.P. during the 

softball banquet.

71. We are informed and believe Defendant MIKE GIAIME erroneously deduced that 

Plaintiff was a participant in this senior group chat, when in fact, she was not.

72. The inquiry took place just before the graduation ceremony, seemingly timed to 

exert pressure on P.K., leveraging the looming threat of her potential exclusion from the graduation 

walk.

73. We are informed and believe that next, Defendant MIKE GIAIME approached 

M.A., who was already dressed in her cap and gown. He removed her from the ceremony staging 

area, cornered her into a private room with no others present, and further inquired about the 

banquet and SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS's actions. He insinuated that she and the 
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senior softball players perhaps shouldn't have been allowed to participate in the graduation walk. 

M.A. was scared, intimidated, and disturbed by Defendant MIKE GIAIME’s actions. Significantly, 

this encounter was omitted from the investigation report. 

74. Following this "investigation," the employee compiled a concise report and handed 

over the investigative responsibilities to Defendant MIKE GIAIME. The employee was leaving for 

vacation and Plaintiff is informed and believes the employee sent her report to Defendant MIKE 

GIAIME on or about June 9, 2023. She called Plaintiff’s parents that afternoon and said she was 

sending her report to Defendant MIKE GIAIME and there would be no surprises from her in the 

report. The employee apologized several times and stated intimidation and harassment was not 

being considered. We are informed by the employee that the official version of her report, is not 

consistent with the report she submitted to Defendant MIKE GIAIME and that it was changed 

without her knowledge, permission, or consent.  

75. Around June 23, 2023, the DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL administration, Ms. 

Ganesan, carried out phone interviews with a select group of witnesses concerning the alleged 

bullying episode at the softball banquet.  

76. The Defendants had access to video evidence from the banquet, clearly 

demonstrating significant applause and support for J.P., effectively refuting any claims of a lack of 

clapping. This evidence of widespread support starkly contrasts with allegations to the contrary. 

Interestingly, the same video footage also shows J.P. herself choosing not to clap for two of her 

teammates as they received their awards, further underscoring the inconsistency in the narrative 

presented by the Defendants and highlighting a classic example of gaslighting. 

Superintendent MARIAN PHELPS Stalking of Plaintiff

77. Between June 28, 2023, and July 2, 2023, SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS 

began following Plaintiff online.  

78. J.P. and Plaintiff are members of separate private softball travel teams. 

SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS began tracking Plaintiff's team through an online 

platform named 'Game Changer,' which offers details about its players. Plaintiff felt uneasy and 

intruded upon by Superintendent MARIAN PHELPS' actions, perceiving them as an undue interest 
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in her personal life and softball career. 

79. Without Plaintiff's knowledge, SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS had been 

following her softball team on both Instagram and Twitter. As a result, SUPERINTENDENT 

MARIAN PHELPS was blocked, to protect Plaintiff’s privacy. Such behavior from a school 

official towards Plaintiff was inappropriate, causing Plaintiff to be concerned for her safety and feel 

intimidated, bullied, and harassed. It felt like cyberstalking. Attached as Exhibit 5 are true and 

correct copies, redacted, of screenshots of this social media account activity.  

Results of the “Investigation” 

80. On July 3, 2023, Plaintiff and her parents met with DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL 

principal Ty Eveleth, and assistant principal Jennie Ganesan and discussed the results of the 

“investigation.” 

81. Ty Eveleth stated that Plaintiff’s behavior did not constitute bullying but he claimed 

her actions may have been “borderline” bullying. 

82.  The definition of bullying, BP 5131.2 (a) states “no individual or group shall, 

through physical, written, verbal, visual, or other means, harass, sexually harass, threaten, 

intimidate, cyberbully, cause bodily injury to, or commit hate violence against any student or 

school personnel, or retaliate against them for filing a complaint or participating in the complaint 

resolution process.” 

83. Ty Eveleth was unable to specify which of Plaintiff's actions fit the provided 

definition of bullying. He then pivoted to a theory that Plaintiff's actions might be described as 

"othering," which is not a recognized component of the bullying definition.  

84. Based on the “finding” that Plaintiff may have “borderline” bullied J.P., Ty Eveleth 

presented Plaintiff with the Other Means of Correction Contract (“OMCC”). 

85. Ty Eveleth stated that either Plaintiff agree to the terms of the contract by July 7, 

2023, or she would not be able to play softball for the 2023-2024 academic year. 

86. The OMCC specifically stated that Plaintiff admit she bullied J.P. – which Plaintiff

vehemently denies. Such an admission would be akin to a false and coerced confession. 

87. Since the OMCC was offered, multiple PUSD employees have requested, and 
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strongly suggested, that Plaintiff “admit” that she bullied J.P., so “she could move on.” Plaintiff

was not willing to give a false or coerced confession. 

88. We are informed and believe that Ty Eveleth inherited the ongoing “investigation” 

from Del Norte High School’s prior principal, Defendant Bryan Schultz, and was directed to follow 

the protocol put in place by SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS.  

89. Plaintiff filed an appeal regarding the investigation. Ty Eveleth did not provide the 

details of the appeal process during the meeting but on July 5, 2023, he did outline the procedures 

and process of filing such an appeal with the link to the appeal paperwork. Ty Eveleth stated “[o]ne 

of the topics that we did not fully discuss in our meeting Monday is the PUSD Policy for appealing 

a suspension. I am including it below, so that you are aware of a next step available to your 

family.” (emphasis added).  

90. Ty Eveleth’s statement on July 5, 2023 regarding the PUSD Policy “for appealing a 

suspension” is direct evidence that PUSD’s subsequent statement issued on August 8, 2023 through 

its attorney, that “[a] suspension of [Plaintiff] was never threatened, announced, or 

contemplated[.]” is inaccurate and misleading.  

91. On August 15, 2023, the first week of school at DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL, Ty 

Eveleth confirmed via email that: “this correspondence constitutes official notice that [Plaintiff] is 

precluded from the privilege of participating in extracurricular activities for the 2023-2024 school 

year.” Attached as Exhibit 6 is a true and correct copy, redacted, of the email.  

92. We are informed and believe, Ty Eveleth and the DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL 

employee who handled the first part of the “investigation” were under significant and undue 

influence, pressure, and control by SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS, to initiate, 

perpetuate, and conclude an “investigation” with the outcome of ultimate findings against Plaintiff, 

resulting in a “confession” or revocation of her extracurricular activities, including but not limited 

to terminating her ability to play and compete with her daughter, J.P., on the DEL NORTE HIGH 

SCHOOL varsity softball team for their senior year.

Board of Trustees Failure to Act 

93. On August 17, 2023 Plaintiff, through her attorney, submitted a 135 page complaint 
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to the PUSD Board of Trustees, detailing the facts and circumstances surrounding 

SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELP’S inappropriate and harassing behavior directed at 

Plaintiff and her teammates. Included was video evidence of the activities at the banquet, including 

video showing enthusiastic clapping and support for J.P. while she received her award, and 

conversely, video of SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS daughter J.P., NOT clapping for 

her teammates. Attached as Exhibit 7 is a true and correct copy of the cover letter, redacted, 

submitting that claim. 

94. In response to discussions with PUSD’s attorney, on September 1, 2023 Plaintiff

submitted an additional claim. 

95. In total, PUSD and each one of its Trustee’s were provided with the pertinent facts, 

law, video evidence, and 26 witness statements vindicating Plaintiff and establishing the 

accusations and ensuing “investigation” against her as demonstrably false, in violation of state and 

federal law, and in violation of her constitutional rights. 

96. On October 9, 2023 the PUSD sent notice that Plaintiff’s claim was “REJECTED.” 

Attached as Exhibit 8 is a true and correct copy of PUSD’s Notice of Rejection, redacted. 

97. On November 15, 2023 the PUSD Board of Trustees held a special meeting 

regarding the claims against SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS. They issued a public 

statement of “no action” to report being taken against SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS. 

Defendant DARSHANA PATEL went on to publicly state they could not publicly discuss the 

matter, yet she then publicly discussed the matter, stating “some members of the public are making 

misinformed claims about student and employee conduct involving the Del Norte High School 

softball program.” The Board of Trustees public comments citing to “making misinformed claims” 

lend to the perception that the Trustees are acting as advocates for SUPERINTENDNET MARIAN 

PHELPS, rather than independent elected officials.

98. We are informed and believe that after the November 15, 2023 special board 

meeting, SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS emailed a letter to PUSD employees claiming

that she is the “target for political or other motivations.” She further claims that “a small group of 

people made allegations that I had threatened students and abused my power following a softball 
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banquet . . . I was shocked by the accusations. The commenters made multiple statements that were 

false yet damaging as they were being spread online . . . as the Superintendent of PUSD, I want to 

assure you that the allegations are untrue . . . [n]ever at any time have I made threats towards any 

student nor tried to prevent them from graduating . . . [n]ever at any time did I leverage my position 

as Superintendent to interfere with the school’s investigation nor did I ask the school to initiate 

one.” 

99. On November 15, 2023 SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS gave a public 

news interview where she stated, inter alia, “[this] had nothing to do with the clapping”, “[I] never 

threatened any student”, “[I] never talked to any student about making threats about them not 

graduating”, and “[the] accusations are completely false and fabricated.” 

IV. CAUSES OF ACTION. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of First Amendment, as applied to the states under the 

Fourteenth Amendment; 42 U.S.C. §1983 

(Against All Defendants) 

100. Plaintiff realleges and hereby incorporates each of the preceding paragraphs. 

101. Defendants have deprived and continue to deprive Plaintiff of the rights secured to 

her by the United States Constitution.  

102. By investigating, harassing, intimidating, threatening, bullying, retaliating, 

disciplining and/or revoking extracurricular privileges, including Plaintiff’s ability to be on the Del 

Norte High School softball team for the 2023-2024 academic year, for an alleged incident of 

exercising her free speech, or exercising her right to not speak Defendants have violated, and are 

continuing to violate, Plaintiff’s right to free speech and expression, and in particular, her right 

against compelled speech, as guaranteed by the First Amendment and the Fourteenth Amendment 

to the U.S. Constitution.  

103. By requiring Plaintiff to sign and agree to the terms stated in the OMCC as a 

condition for her to engage in extracurricular privileges, including Plaintiff’s ability to be on the 

Del Norte High School softball team for the 2023-2024 academic year, Defendants have violated, 
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and are continuing to violate, Plaintiff’s right to free speech and expression, and in particular, her 

right against compelled speech, as guaranteed by the First Amendment and the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. Defendants’ actions also constitute a prior restraint on 

Plaintiff’s right to free speech, in violation of the First Amendment and the Fourteenth Amendment 

to the U.S. Constitution.  

104. By taking actions designed to restrict, compel, restrain, and otherwise quash free 

speech and freedom of expression, Defendants have violated, and are continuing to violate, 

Plaintiff’s right to free speech and expression, and in particular, her right against compelled speech 

and against a prior restraint on her free speech, as guaranteed by the First Amendment and the 

Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. 

105. In depriving Plaintiff of these rights, Defendants acted under color of state law.  

This deprivation under color of state law is actionable under and may be redressed by 42 U.S.C. 

§1983. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of Article I, Section 2(a) of California State Constitution; 42 U.S.C. §1983 

(Against All Defendants) 

106. Plaintiff realleges and hereby incorporates each of the preceding paragraphs. 

107. California Constitution, Article I, Section 2(a) states “[e]very person may freely 

speak, write and publish his or her sentiments on all subjects, being responsible for the abuse of 

this right. A law may not restrain or abridge liberty of speech or press.” 

108. Defendants have deprived and are continuing to deprive Plaintiff of the rights 

secured to her by the California Constitution, Article I, Section 2(a).  

109. Defendants’ conduct violates Plaintiff’s right to freedom of speech under Article I, 

Section 2 of the California Constitution.  

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of Section 48950 of California Education Code 

(Against All Defendants) 

110. Plaintiff realleges and hereby incorporates each of the preceding paragraphs.  
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111. Section 48950 of the Education Code states in relevant part, “[a] school district 

operating one or more high schools  . . . shall not make or enforce a rule subjecting a high school 

student to disciplinary sanctions solely on the basis of conduct that is speech or other 

communication that, when engaged in outside of the campus, is protected from governmental 

restriction by the First Amendment to the United States Constitution or Section 2 of Article I of the 

California Constitution.” 

112. Defendants deprived, and continue to deprive Plaintiff, of the rights secured to her 

by the Education Code of California. 

113. The discipline policies of both PUSD and DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL, permit 

Defendants to “investigate,” harass, intimidate, threaten, bully, retaliate, discipline and/or revoke 

extracurricular privileges as a punitive or disciplinary action, including Plaintiff’s ability to be on 

the Del Norte High School softball team for the 2023-2024 academic year, for an alleged incident 

of exercising her free speech, or exercising her right to not speak. 

114. The discipline policies of both PUSD and DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL, permit 

Defendants to require Plaintiff to sign and agree to the terms stated in the OMCC as a requirement 

for her to engage in extracurricular privileges, including Plaintiff’s ability to be on the Del Norte 

High School softball team for the 2023-2024 academic year, for an alleged incident of exercising 

her free speech, or exercising her right to not speak.  

115. Because Defendants’ unlawful rules subject Plaintiff to disciplinary sanctions for 

engaging in her right of freedom of expression, Defendants violated Education Code §48950.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of Section 48907 of California Education Code

(Against All Defendants)

116. Plaintiff realleges and hereby incorporates each of the preceding paragraphs. 

117. Section 48907 of the Education Code states in relevant part, that public school 

students “shall have the right to exercise freedom of speech and of the press . . ..” Speech can be 

prohibited only if it is obscene, libelous, slanderous, or incites students to create a clear and present 

danger of the commission of unlawful acts on school premises or the violation of lawful school 



R
E

D
E

N
|R

ID
D

E
L

L
16

88
5 

V
ia

 D
el

 C
am

po
 C

ou
rt

, S
ui

te
 3

20
 S

an
 D

ie
go

, C
A

 9
21

27
 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

23 
COMPLAINT 

JANE DOE vs. POWAY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT, ET AL.
 

regulations, or the substantial disruption of the orderly operation of the school. 

118. Defendants deprived, and continue to deprive Plaintiff, of the rights secured to her 

by the Education Code of California. 

119. The alleged conduct of not clapping when J.P. was announced an award at the 

softball banquet is protected expression of one’s views, opinions, and feelings. Clapping, or not 

clapping, did not cause a disturbance. It is not vulgar or obscene. Plaintiff’s, and anyone’s display 

of clapping, or not clapping, is fully protected by this provision. 

120. The prior restraint on free speech imposed in the OMCC, as well as the OMCC’s 

attempt to restrict Plaintiff’s expression of opinions, views, and comments about 

SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS, J.P., or anyone else, is a violation of Plaintiff’s 

protected expression of her opinions, views, and comments. Since the OMCC imposes a prior 

restraint on speech that has not occurred, the speech cannot cause a disturbance. It is not vulgar or 

obscene.  

121. The OMCC requires compelled speech by Plaintiff to staff every 2 weeks. This 

requirement is in violation of Plaintiff’s protected right against compelled speech. This speech (or 

lack of speech), if it happened, would not cause a disturbance. It is not vulgar or obscene.  

122. The only disruption related to Plaintiff’s alleged not clapping, was that caused by 

Defendants’ subsequent “investigation” and its sequelae. 

123. The location of the softball banquet where the alleged not clapping incident took 

place, was on private property, and not on public school grounds. 

124. By attempting to compel Plaintiff to speak, or prevent Plaintiff from speaking, 

Defendants violated Plaintiff’s right to freedom of expression under Education Code §48907.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of the Fourteenth Amendment; 42 U.S.C. §1983

(Against All Defendants)

125. Plaintiff realleges and hereby incorporates each of the preceding paragraphs. 

126. Under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, Plaintiff has the 

right to substantive due process, which includes a property interest in receiving a public education. 
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127. Defendants conduct effectively deprived Plaintiff of her right to receive a public 

education under the Fourteenth Amendment. 

128. By investigating, harassing, intimidating, threatening, bullying, retaliating, 

disciplining and/or revoking extracurricular privileges, including Plaintiff’s ability to be on the Del 

Norte High School softball team for the 2023-2024 academic year, for an alleged incident of 

exercising her free speech, Defendants have violated Plaintiff’s right to receive a public education, 

as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.

129. By requiring Plaintiff to sign and agree to the terms stated in the OMCC as a 

requirement for her to engage in extracurricular privileges, including Plaintiff’s ability to be on the 

Del Norte High School softball team for the 2023-2024 academic year, Defendants have violated, 

and are continuing to violate, Plaintiff’s right to a public education as guaranteed by the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.

130. By taking actions designed to harass, intimidate, threaten, bully, retaliate, discipline 

and/or revoke extracurricular privileges, Defendants have violated, and are continuing to violate, 

Plaintiff’s right to a public education as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. 

Constitution. 

131. In depriving Plaintiff of these rights, Defendants acted under color of state law.  

This deprivation under color of state law is actionable under and may be redressed by 42 U.S.C. 

§1983 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the California Constitution; 42 U.S.C. §1983

(Against All Defendants)

132. Plaintiff realleges and hereby incorporates each of the preceding paragraphs. 

133. Under the Equal Protection Clause of the California Constitution, “[a] person may 

not be . . . denied equal protection of the laws.” (Cal. Const., art. I, § 7, subd. (a).) Further, “[a] 

citizen or class of citizens may not be granted privileges or immunities not granted on the same 

terms to all citizens.” (Cal. Const., Art. I, § 7, subd. (b)). 

134. Equal protection of the laws ensures that people who are similarly situated for 
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purposes of a law are generally treated similarly by the law. This means that a government actor 

may not adopt a rule that affects two or more similarly situated groups in an unequal manner.

135. “The first prerequisite to a meritorious claim under the equal protection clause is a 

showing that the state has adopted a classification that affects two or more similarly situated groups 

in an unequal manner. This initial inquiry is not whether persons are similarly situated for all 

purposes, but whether they are similarly situated for purposes of the law challenged.” (Cooley v. 

Superior Court (2002) 29 Cal.4th 228, 253, citations omitted; see also DiMartile v. Cuomo

(N.D.N.Y. 2020), No. 1:20-CV-0859 (GTS/CFH), 2020 WL 4558711, at *10 [holding pandemic 

restrictions violated equal protection guarantees]; Deese v. City of Lodi (1937) 21 Cal.App.2d 631, 

635 [holding health restrictions applicable only to certain industries violated equal protection 

guarantees]). 

136. The government’s exercise of police power “cannot be so used as to arbitrarily limit 

the rights of one class of people and allow those same rights and privileges to a different class, 

where the public welfare does not demand or justify such a classification.” (Id.) 

137. Defendants’ investigating, harassing, intimidating, threatening, bullying, retaliating, 

disciplining and/or revoking extracurricular privileges, including Plaintiff’s ability to be on the Del 

Norte High School softball team for the 2023-2024 academic year, violate the Equal Protection 

Clause of the California Constitution, because Defendants’ “investigation,” the OMCC 

requirement, and treatment of Plaintiff singles her out for being the target of SUPERINTENDENT 

MARIAN PHELP’S aim to eliminate Plaintiff as a rival for the sought-after position of pitcher on 

the softball team, that her daughter J.P. competes with Plaintiff for. The only reason Plaintiff was 

treated the way she was and was required to sign the OMCC in order to engage in extracurricular 

activities, including the ability to be on the Del Norte High School softball team for the 2023-2024 

academic year, was because SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELP’S was in a position of power 

and intimidating, and was given and wielded special treatment, privileges, access, and control. 

138. Where a rule results in infringement of a fundamental right, such a rule is subject to 

strict scrutiny. Education is a fundamental right under the California Constitution and at Del Norte 

High School extracurricular activities are made available to all students. Thus, any rule that 
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deprives a person or group of equal access to education and extracurricular activities is subject to 

strict scrutiny.

139. Strict scrutiny demands that the government actor establish (1) it has a compelling 

interest that justifies the challenged rule; (2) the rule is necessary to further that interest; and (3) the 

rule is narrowly drawn to achieve that end.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of Article IX of the California Constitution; 42 U.S.C. §1983

(Against All Defendants)

140. Plaintiff realleges and hereby incorporates each of the preceding paragraphs.

141. Article IX, Section 1, of the California Constitution provides: “A general diffusion 

of knowledge and intelligence being essential to the preservation of the rights and liberties of the 

people, the Legislature shall encourage by all suitable means the promotion of intellectual, 

scientific, moral, and agricultural improvement.” 

142. Article IX, section 5 of the California Constitution provides: “The Legislature shall 

provide for a system of common schools by which a free school shall be kept up and supported in 

each district at least six months in every year . . ..”

143. In Butt v. California, supra, 4 Cal.4th 680, the California Supreme Court found that

“California has assumed specific responsibility for a statewide public education system open on 

equal terms to all.”

144. Students have constitutional right to a public education that is free from bias, 

unequal treatment, favoritism, harassment, intimidation, threats, bullying, and foreseeable injuries 

from school employees and administrators. 

145. Defendants conduct effectively deprived Plaintiff of her right to receive a public 

education under Article IX of the California Constitution. 

146. By investigating, harassing, intimidating, threatening, bullying, retaliating, 

disciplining and/or revoking extracurricular privileges, including Plaintiff’s ability to be on the Del 

Norte High School softball team for the 2023-2024 academic year, for an alleged incident of 

exercising her free speech, Defendants have violated Plaintiff’s right to receive a public education, 
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as guaranteed by Article IX of the California Constitution.

147. By requiring Plaintiff to sign and agree to the terms stated in the OMCC as a 

requirement for her to engage in extracurricular privileges, including Plaintiff’s ability to be on the 

Del Norte High School softball team for the 2023-2024 academic year, Defendants have violated, 

and are continuing to violate, Plaintiff’s right to a public education as guaranteed by Article IX of 

the California Constitution.

148. By taking actions designed to harass, intimidate, threaten, bully, retaliate, discipline 

and/or revoke extracurricular privileges, Defendants have violated, and are continuing to violate, 

Plaintiff’s right to a public education as guaranteed by Article IX of the California Constitution.

149. In depriving Plaintiff of these rights, Defendants acted under color of state law.  

This deprivation under color of state law is actionable under and may be redressed by 42 U.S.C. 

§1983. 

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress; Harassment; Retaliation

(Against All Defendants Except Not Against Board of Education Members)

150. Plaintiff realleges and hereby incorporates each of the preceding paragraphs. 

151. Defendants owe a fiduciary duty to their students, including Plaintiff, which is a 

legal and ethical obligation of trust and responsibility. This duty arises from the inherent power 

imbalance in the administrator/teacher-student relationship and the reliance placed on 

administrators/teachers as educators and caretakers. Under this fiduciary duty, 

administrators/teachers are expected to act in the best interests of their students, prioritizing their 

educational, emotional, and physical well-being. This includes providing a safe learning 

environment, offering fair and unbiased instruction, respecting students' rights and dignity, and 

maintaining confidentiality where appropriate. Administrators/teachers must avoid conflicts of 

interest, refrain from exploiting their position for personal gain, and should not engage in behavior 

that could harm the student’s welfare or educational opportunities.

152. Defendants engaged in outrageous and despicable conduct, as alleged in this 

Complaint, that was intentionally and maliciously done for the purpose of causing Plaintiff to 
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suffer severe and extreme humiliation, stress, anxiety, mental anguish, and emotional and physical 

distress. Defendants acted with knowledge that Plaintiff’s emotional and physical distress would 

thereby increase, and with a wanton and reckless disregard of the consequences to Plaintiff. 

Defendants knew or should have known that Plaintiff was subject to the risk of severe emotional 

distress. At all times alleged, Defendants were capable of knowing their acts were wrongful. 

Defendants breached their fiduciary duty owed to Plaintiff. 

153. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants acts, as alleged in this Complaint, 

Plaintiff was required and did employ healthcare providers to examine, treat, and care for Plaintiff, 

and incurred medical expenses and incidentals. 

154. Defendants acts, as alleged in this Complaint, were grossly negligent, reckless, 

intentional, willful, wanton, malicious, suppressive, and in conscious disregard for Plaintiff’s 

rights, thereby warranting an award of punitive damages, except as to those Defendants who are 

statutorily immune from punitive damages. 

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress; Harassment; Retaliation 

(Against All Defendants Except Not Against Board of Education Members) 

155. Plaintiff realleges and hereby incorporates each of the preceding paragraphs. 

156. Defendants owe a fiduciary duty to their students, including Plaintiff, which is a 

legal and ethical obligation of trust and responsibility. This duty arises from the inherent power 

imbalance in the administrator/teacher-student relationship and the reliance placed on 

administrators/teachers as educators and caretakers. Under this fiduciary duty, 

administrators/teachers are expected to act in the best interests of their students, prioritizing their 

educational, emotional, and physical well-being. This includes providing a safe learning 

environment, offering fair and unbiased instruction, respecting students' rights and dignity, and 

maintaining confidentiality where appropriate. Administrators/teachers must avoid conflicts of 

interest, refrain from exploiting their position for personal gain, and should not engage in behavior 

that could harm the student’s welfare or educational opportunities. 

157. Defendants’ conduct, as alleged in this Complaint, negligently caused Plaintiff to 
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suffer severe and extreme humiliation, stress, anxiety, mental anguish, and emotional and physical 

distress. Defendants breached their fiduciary duty owed to Plaintiff. 

158. Defendants negligently acted in a manner that caused Plaintiff’s emotional and 

physical distress to increase, and with a negligent disregard of the consequences to Plaintiff.  

159. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ acts, as alleged in this Complaint, 

Plaintiff suffered severe and extreme humiliation, stress, anxiety, mental anguish, and emotional 

and physical distress. 

160. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants acts, as alleged in this Complaint, 

Plaintiff was required and did employ healthcare providers to examine, treat, and care for Plaintiff, 

and incurred medical expenses and incidentals.  

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of Education Code and PUSD Policies 

(Against All Defendants) 

161. Plaintiff realleges and hereby incorporates each of the preceding paragraphs. 

Inappropriate Adult-Student Interaction  

162. PUSD policies 4119.24(a), 4219.24, and 4319.24, which are based in part on 

Education Code sections 44050, 44242.5, and 48980, state in relevant part: 

“The Governing Board desires to provide a positive school environment that 

protects the safety and well-being of district students. The Board expects all adults with 

whom students may interact at school or in school-related activities, including employees . . 

. to maintain the highest professional and ethical standards in their interactions with 

students both within and outside the educational setting. Such adults shall not engage in 

unlawful or inappropriate interactions with students and shall avoid boundary-blurring 

behaviors that undermine trust in the adult-student relationship and lead to the appearance 

of impropriety.” 

“Adults shall not intrude on a student’s physical or emotional boundaries unless 

necessary in an emergency or to serve a legitimate purpose related to instruction, 

counseling, student health, or student or staff safety.”  
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Any employee who observes or has knowledge of another employee’s violation of this 

policy shall report the information to the Superintendent and Associate Superintendent of 

Personnel Support Services or designee or appropriate agency for investigation pursuant to 

the applicable complaint procedures. Other adults with knowledge of any violation of this 

policy are encouraged to report the violation to the Superintendent and Associate 

Superintendent of Personnel Support Services or designee. The Superintendent and the 

Associate Superintendent of Personnel Support Services or designee shall protect anyone 

who reports a violation from retaliation. Immediate intervention shall be implemented when 

necessary to protect student safety or the integrity of the investigation.”

“Employees who engage in any conduct in violation of this policy, including 

retaliation against a person who reports the violation or participates in the complaint 

process, shall be subject to discipline, up to and including dismissal. Any other adult who 

violates this policy may be barred from school grounds and activities in accordance with the 

law. The Superintendent or Associate Superintendent of Personnel Support Services or 

designee may also notify law enforcement as appropriate.”

“INAPPROPRIATE CONDUCT . . .  (2) Being alone with a student outside of the 

view of others . . . (4) Maintaining personal contact with a student that has no legitimate 

educational purpose, by phone, letter, electronic communications, or other means, without 

including the student’s parent/guardian or the principal . . . When communicating 

electronically with students, employees shall use district equipment or technological 

resources when available. Employees shall not communicate with students through any 

medium that is designed to eliminate records of the communications. The Superintendent 

and Associate Superintendent of Personnel Support services or designee may monitor 

employee usage of district technology at any time without advance notice or consent . . .  

(5) Creating or participating in social networking sites for communication with students, 

other than those created by the district or for educational purposes, without the prior written 

approval of the principal or an administrator . . . (6) Inviting or accepting requests from 

students, or former students who are minors, to connect on personal social networking sites 
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(e.g., ‘friending’ or ‘following’ on social media), unless the site is dedicated to school 

business . . . (7) Singling out a particular student for personal attention and friendship, 

which could include the giving of gifts and/or the assigning of nicknames to individual 

students . . . (8) Socializing or spending time with students outside of school-sponsored 

events, except as participants in community activities . . ...” 

163. By engaging in the acts alleged in this Complaint, Defendants violated the 

protections afforded to Plaintiff and other students, as set forth in PUSD policies 4119.24(a), 

4219.24, and 4319.24. 

164. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ acts, as alleged in this Complaint, 

Plaintiff suffered severe and extreme humiliation, stress, anxiety, mental anguish, and emotional 

and physical distress. 

165. A true and correct copy of PUSD policies 4119.24(a), 4219.24, and 4319.24 are 

attached to this Complaint as Exhibit 9. 

Violation of Administrator/Teacher Professional Standards 

166. PUSD policies 4119.21(a), 4219.21, and 4319.21, which are based in part on 

Education Code sections 200-262.4, and 44242.5, Code of Regulations section 80303, 80331-

80338, state in relevant part:

“Inappropriate employee conduct includes, but is not limited to . . . (2) Engaging in 

harassing or discriminatory behavior towards students, parents/guardians, staff, or 

community members, or failing or refusing to intervene when an act of discrimination, 

harassment, intimidation, or bullying against a student is observed . . . (3) . . . willfully 

harming or injuring a child . . . (4) engaging in inappropriate socialization or fraternization 

with a student or soliciting, encouraging, or maintaining an inappropriate written, verbal, or 

physical relationship with a student . . . (6) Using profane, obscene, or abusive language 

against students, parents/guardians, staff, or community members . . . (7) Willfully 

disrupting district or school operations by loud or unreasonable noise or other action . . . (9) 

Dishonesty with students, parents/guardians, staff, or members of the public, including, but 

not limited to, falsification of information in employment records or other school records . . 
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. (11) Using district equipment or other district resources for the employee’s own 

commercial purposes or for political activities . . . (12) Using district equipment or 

communications devices for personal purposes while on duty, except in an emergency, 

during scheduled work breaks, or for personal necessity . . . (13) Causing damage to or 

engaging in theft of property belonging to students, staff, or the district . . …” 

 “An employee who observes or has evidence of another employee’s inappropriate 

conduct shall immediately report such conduct to the principal or Superintendent or 

designee.” 

 “Any reports of employee misconduct shall be promptly investigated. Any 

employee who is found to have engaged in inappropriate conduct in violation of law or 

Board policy shall be subject to disciplinary action and, in the case of a certificated 

employee, may be subject to a report to the Commission on Teacher Credentialing. The 

Superintendent or designee shall notify local law enforcement as appropriate.” 

 “An employee who has knowledge of but fails to report inappropriate employee 

conduct may also be subject to discipline.” 

 “The district prohibits retaliation against anyone who files a complaint against an 

employee or reports an employee’s inappropriate conduct. Any employee who retaliates 

against any such complainant, reporter, or other participant in the district’s complaint 

process shall be subject to discipline.”  

167. By engaging in the acts alleged in this Complaint, Defendants violated the 

protections afforded to Plaintiff and other students, as set forth in PUSD policies 4119.21(a), 

4219.21, and 4319.21. 

168. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ acts, as alleged in this Complaint, 

Plaintiff suffered severe and extreme humiliation, stress, anxiety, mental anguish, and emotional 

and physical distress. 

169. A true and correct copy of PUSD policies 4119.21(a), 4219.21, and 4319.21 are 

attached to this Complaint as Exhibit 10. 

Violation of Discipline Measures and Standards
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170. PUSD policies 6145 and 5144, which are based in part on Education Code sections 

35145, 35160.5, 35179, 35181, 48930-48938, 35146, 35291, 35291.5-35291.7, 44807.5, 48900-

48926, 48980-48985, and 49005-49006.4, California Constitution, Article IX, Section 5, and 

Hartzell 35 Cal.3d 899, state in relevant part:

“The Governing Board recognizes that extracurricular and cocurricular activities 

enrich the educational and social development of students and enhance students’ 

connectedness with the schools. The district shall encourage and support student 

participation in extracurricular and cocurricular activities . . ..”

“Prerequisites for student participation in extracurricular and cocurricular activities 

shall be limited to those that have been demonstrated to be essential to the success of the 

activity.” 

“. . . [S]trategies for correcting student misconduct shall reflect the Board’s 

preference for the use of positive interventions and alternative disciplinary measures over 

exclusionary discipline measures.”

“Disciplinary measures that may . . . cause students to be disengaged from school, 

such as detention, suspension, and expulsion, shall be imposed only when required or 

permitted by law or when other means of correction have been documented to have failed.” 

“Staff shall enforce disciplinary rules fairly, consistently, and in accordance with the 

district’s nondiscrimination policies.”

171. By engaging in the acts alleged in this Complaint, Defendants violated the 

protections and procedures afforded to Plaintiff and other students, as set forth in PUSD policies 

6145 and 5144.

172. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ acts, as alleged in this Complaint, 

Plaintiff suffered severe and extreme humiliation, stress, anxiety, mental anguish, and emotional 

and physical distress.

173. A true and correct copy of PUSD policies 6145 and 5144 are attached to this 

Complaint as Exhibit 11. 
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ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Negligence:

Failure to Train, Supervise, and Discipline Employees

(Against All Defendants)

174. Plaintiff realleges and hereby incorporates each of the preceding paragraphs.

175. Defendants and its employees and agents were in supervisory roles and/or in a 

position to control, hire, train, supervise, discipline and retain employees pursuant to its policies, 

including but not limited to performing ongoing supervision and training related to 

administrator/employee gaslighting, retaliation, harassment, threats, bullying, and intimidation of 

students, including Plaintiff, and implementing appropriate and proper procedures to respond in a 

timely manner to student reports of this administrator/employee behavior, including the acts 

alleged in this Complaint, collectively referred to as “Employee Misconduct.”  

176. On information and belief, Defendants failed to adequately train PUSD staff on 

issues of Employee Misconduct and responding appropriately. Because of this failure, Defendants 

were inadequately prepared to respond timely and appropriately to Plaintiff’s reports of Employee 

Misconduct.  

177. On information and belief, Defendants failed to adequately train PUSD staff on 

issues of Employee Misconduct and responding appropriately. Because of this failure, Defendants 

were inadequately prepared to respond timely and appropriately to their own knowledge of 

Employee Misconduct committed by others, relating to Plaintiff. 

178. On information and belief, Defendants failed to adequately supervise PUSD staff on 

issues of Employee Misconduct and responding appropriately. Because of this failure, Defendants 

were inadequately prepared to respond timely and appropriately to Plaintiff’s reports of Employee 

Misconduct. 

179. On information and belief, Defendants failed to adequately supervise PUSD staff on 

issues of Employee Misconduct and responding appropriately. Because of this failure, and with 

knowledge of Plaintiff’s reports of Employee Misconduct, there was a failure to have adequate 

safeguards and supervision to ensure that the staff appropriately and timely responded to Plaintiff’s 
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reports. 

180. On information and belief, Defendants failed to adequately supervise PUSD staff on 

issues of Employee Misconduct and responding appropriately. Because of this failure, and with 

knowledge of Plaintiff’s reports of Employee Misconduct, there was a failure to have adequate 

safeguards and supervision to ensure that the staff appropriately and timely responded to their own 

knowledge of Employee Misconduct committed by others, relating to Plaintiff.

181. On information and belief, Defendants failed to adequately discipline PUSD staff on 

issues of Employee Misconduct and responding appropriately. This failure of discipline of staff, 

who on information and belief, had a history of Employee Misconduct, and had a history of failing 

to timely and appropriately respond to such issues, led to an unsafe school environment that 

allowed the foreseeable harms that Plaintiff suffered. 

182. On information and belief, Defendants failed to adequately discipline PUSD staff 

who failed to timely and appropriately respond to Plaintiff’s reports of Employee Misconduct. This 

failure of discipline caused Plaintiff to suffer unnecessary and ongoing harm and increased fear and 

anxiety, as she could not trust the district, its trustees, its administrators, or its employees to provide 

a safe school environment for Plaintiff.  

183. Defendants failed in their duties to provide ongoing training, supervision, discipline, 

and application of its policies governing employee conduct. They knew or should have known they 

were negligent in their duties to maintain and supervise its employees, and prevent foreseeable 

harm to students, including Plaintiff. 

184. Defendants had a duty to use reasonable care to investigate, examine, hire, and 

retain employees who were competent and fit to perform the duties related to working at public 

schools, without creating a risk to students, and those who were fit to supervise employees and 

prevent foreseeable harms to its students. 

185. The absence of adequate safeguards made Plaintiff’s injuries likely to occur. 

186. Defendants’ actions and inactions were deliberately and/or knowingly indifferent to 

the training needs of all employees of the district, including but not limited to the teachers, 

administrators, and other staff who knew or had reason to know there was a foreseeable threat of 
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harm and Employee Misconduct to Plaintiff and other students. 

187. Defendants knew or should have know there was a foreseeable and likely risk of 

emotional harm to Plaintiff. 

188. A reasonable person in the supervisory roles and other staff roles held by 

Defendants’ employees and agents could have and should have foreseen the injuries suffered by 

Plaintiff, were likely to occur. 

189. Defendants breached their duty by failing to take adequate precautions and 

reasonable steps to investigate and prevent the Employee Misconduct to Plaintiff. 

190. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants acts, as alleged in this Complaint, 

Plaintiff was required and did employ healthcare providers to examine, treat, and care for Plaintiff, 

and incurred medical expenses and incidentals.  

191. Defendants, by their actions and inactions, including lack of appropriate 

supervision, training, and discipline of administrators/employees, negligently or recklessly 

permitted Employee Misconduct to Plaintiff, which caused Plaintiff substantial injury. 

TWELFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Negligence: 

Failure to Supervise and Prevent Foreseeable Harm to Students 

(Against All Defendants) 

192. Plaintiff realleges and hereby incorporates each of the preceding paragraphs.

193. Defendants and their employees and agents had a duty to create and maintain a safe 

and secure campus free from Employee Misconduct and emotional harm. 

194. Defendants and their employees and agents had a duty to supervise and keep 

Plaintiff and other students safe from foreseeable Employee Misconduct. 

195. Defendants and their employees and agents were in an authoritative role and were in 

a special position to supervise and protect Plaintiff and other students from the Employee 

Misconduct and acts alleged in this Complaint. 

196. Defendants failed to take reasonable actions and precautions against the type of 

injuries suffered by Plaintiff, including but not limited to, the failure to supervise 
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administrators/employees it knew or had reason to know posed a threat of injury and Employee 

Misconduct and other acts alleged in this Complaint against Plaintiff.  

197. The absence of adequate safeguards made Plaintiff’s injuries likely to occur, and 

made them foreseeable. 

198. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants acts, as alleged in this Complaint, 

Plaintiff was required and did employ healthcare providers to examine, treat, and care for Plaintiff, 

and incurred medical expenses and incidentals.  

199. Defendants, by their actions and inactions, including lack of appropriate 

supervision, training, and discipline of administrators/employees, negligently or recklessly 

permitted Employee Misconduct to Plaintiff, which caused Plaintiff substantial injury.  

V. REQUEST FOR RELIEF.

Plaintiff requests the following relief: 

1. A declaration that Defendants are in violation of the following: 

a. Violation of First Amendment, as applied to the states under the Fourteenth 

Amendment; 42 U.S.C. §1983; 

b. Violation of Article I, Section 2(a) of California State Constitution; 42 

U.S.C. §1983; 

c. Violation of Section 48950 of California Education Code; 

d. Violation of Section 48907 of California Education Code; 

e. Violation of the Fourteenth Amendment; 42 U.S.C. §1983; 

f. Violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the California Constitution; 42 

U.S.C. §1983; 

g. Violation of Article IX of the California Constitution; 42 U.S.C. §1983; 

h. Violation of PUSD Policies and associated Education Code Sections: 

a. 4119.24(a);  

b. 4219.24;  

c. 4319.24; 

d. 4119.21(a); 
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e. 4219.21;

f. 4319.21

g. 6145, and;

h. 5144.

2. A declaration that Defendants shall take no actions against Plaintiff designed or 

resulting in infringing on her state and federal Constitutional rights to free speech and freedom of 

expression, or that intimidate, harass, bully, threaten, discriminate, discipline, or otherwise quash 

Plaintiff’s efforts to exercise her rights to free speech or freedom of expression, or her ability to 

engage in extracurricular activities, including but not limited to playing on the Del Norte Softball 

team.

3. A temporary restraining order, preliminary and permanent injunction, and writ of 

mandate restraining and preventing Defendants and their officers, agents, or any other persons 

acting with them or on their behalf from implementing and enforcing any of the following actions 

against Plaintiff for the alleged conduct that is the subject of this Complaint:  

a. Suspension; 

b. Transfer; 

c. Disenrollment; 

d. Discipline or punishment; 

e. Removal or exclusion from extracurricular activities;

f. Removal or exclusion from athletics;

g. Adverse consequences towards graduation;

h. Verbal criticisms and abuse;

i. Intimidation, harassment, discrimination, segregation, or bullying;

j. Denying Plaintiff the right, opportunity, or access to peacefully protest;

k. Denying Plaintiff the right, opportunity, or access to exercise lawfully 

protected free speech;

4. A temporary restraining order, preliminary and permanent injunction, and writ of 

mandate restraining and preventing Defendants and their officers, agents, or any other persons 
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acting with them from violating any PUSD Policies as they relate to Plaintiff, other students, and 

the Del Norte Softball program.

5. A temporary restraining order, preliminary and permanent injunction, and writ of 

mandate restraining and preventing Defendant SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS from 

engaging, influencing, participating, or being involved with the Del Norte Softball program to any 

extent other than a parent.

6. A temporary restraining order, preliminary and permanent injunction, and writ of 

mandate restraining and preventing Defendant SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS from 

doing the following things to Plaintiff or her immediate family: come within 10 yards of her 

person, contacting (either directly or indirectly), investigating, harassing, intimidating, threatening, 

bullying, retaliating, threatening, or disturb the peace. 

7. A declaration and writ of mandate directing Defendants to take immediate and 

appropriate disciplinary actions against SUPERINTENDENT MARIAN PHELPS in compliance 

with applicable law and PUSD Policy relating to Employee Misconduct and the allegations in this 

Complaint.

8. A declaration that the following policies, actions taken, or actions threatened to be 

taken by Defendants, to or against, Plaintiff, are in violation of the law and/or PUSD Policy, and 

issuance of a temporary restraining order, preliminary and permanent injunction, and writ of 

mandate prohibiting Defendants from engaging in these, or similar policies, actions, or threatened 

actions against Plaintiff:

a. Suspension;

b. Transfer;

c. Disenrollment;

d. Discipline or punishment;

e. Removal or exclusion from extracurricular activities;

f. Removal or exclusion from athletics;

g. Adverse consequences towards graduation; 

h. Verbal criticisms and abuse; 
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i. Intimidation, harassment, discrimination, segregation, or bullying; 

j. Denying Plaintiff the right, opportunity, or access to peacefully protest; 

k. Denying Plaintiff the right, opportunity, or access to exercise lawfully 

protected free speech;

9. For compensatory damages according to proof; 

10. For incidental and consequential damages according to proof; 

11. For pain and suffering damages according to proof; 

12. For punitive damages against all individual defendants other than the government 

Defendants PUSD and DEL NORTE HIGH SCHOOL. 

13. For prejudgment interest at the legal rate;

14. Attorneys’ fees and costs recoverable, pursuant to §1021.5 of the Code of Civil 

Procedure, Civil Code §51, et seq., 42 U.S.C. §1983, and any other applicable provision of law; 

15. Costs of suit; and 

16. Such other and further relief as the court may deem just and proper. 

Dated: November 27, 2023 REDEN | RIDDELL 
 
 

By:  
Justin G. Reden, Esq. 
Michael J. Riddell, Esq. 
Collin E. Cresap, Esq. 
Attorneys for Plaintiff
Plaintiff
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From: Justin Reden
To: Lemaster, David
Cc: Jimenez, James; Dayhoff, James; Tessa Doyle; Emily Shohara; Collin Cresap
Subject: Notice of Representation - vs. Mariam Phelps, PUSD, et al.
Date: Sunday, July 23, 2023 7:48:00 AM
Attachments: image001.png
Importance: High

Dave – good morning, I hope you are doing well. I am writing to notify you and the District that my
firm was retained to represent  and her parents,  I am informed
that you were scheduling a meeting with my clients to take place tomorrow, Monday July 24, 2023. I
apologize, but we will need to push that meeting out to a future date so I can fully participate. I am
in the process of gathering all relevant information and documents and once I have the evidence file,
I will then prepare my analysis of the suspected discrimination, abuse, violations, and conflicts of
interest perpetuated against my client and her family and map out our next steps.

I will be obtaining all relevant emails, social media messaging apps, and work messaging platforms
such as Microsoft Teams, Slack, etc . . ., text messages, calendar entries, phone log records, notes,
etc . . .  of intra district communications regarding this matter. Please allow this to serve as our
evidence preservation notice and public records request regarding the same, and forward to
whomever needs to receive it at the District to process this request, if you are not that person. A
more formal request will go out beginning of this coming week, but due to the importance and
urgency of this matter I wanted to get the ball rolling on PUSD starting to gather the relevant public
records and information, so please do not wait for another request to get going on this. It is also
important that PUSD immediately notify all its personnel and ensure they separately save and
preserve all text messages, emails, social media messaging apps, and work messaging platforms such
as Microsoft Teams, Slack, etc . . . and other forms of electronic communication so they do not
automatically disappear from accounts or get deleted. This includes but is not limited
communications that occurred on their personal electronic devices, personal phones, ipads,
computers, etc . . ..
 
We will be submitting detailed administrative/investigative complaints soon directed to the District
as well as those individuals we feel are perpetuating wrongdoing against  and her family. If
the District does not take immediate action to self-correct and repair in line with how we see the
situation, we will be left with no choice but to seek an order of the Court stopping this wrongdoing.
This is a very serious and matter and I am confident positive change will be the result benefitting the
students and families in our PUSD community.
 
Because the Superintendent placed herself front and center of all this, coupled with her substantial
authority as the Superintendent, as you know and likely already discussed internally, there is a
serious conflict of interest which is an impediment to resolving this in an objective and reasonable
manner. It is imperative that you do not do anything that could further the effects of the existing
conflict of interest. One of my criticisms are going to be based on abuse of power and misalignment
of authority. This includes assertion of that authority over everyone downstream of the
Superintendent in the organization chart, including but certainly not limited to you, Mr. Jiminez, and
Mr. Dayhoff. The obvious worry people have is if they do not do what the Superintendent wants,
they will get fired. I empathize with everyone in that situation, although it is never an excuse to



*** CAUTION: This email was sent from an EXTERNAL source. DO NOT CLICK any links or
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe. ***

You don't often get email from dlemaster@powayusd.com. Learn why this is important

perpetuate wrongdoing coming from another. As such, I cannot overstate the importance of you
immediately getting in place protocols and procedures to mitigate and prevent abuse of power and
process. While certainly I hope litigation is not necessary, if we are left with no option other than to
ask the Court for protection, I can assure you that this email will be Exhibit A to that lawsuit. In
fairness to you, I am letting you know now that I will ask each of you in deposition and at trial,
whether you received this email, understood it, and what you did about it to make sure (i) all public
records were preserved and produced, and (ii) an abuse power and/or actual or potential conflict of
interest was not perpetuated on your watch.

As always, I look forward to working with you and your team to bring long overdue and much
needed change to the District. Do not hesitate to reach out to me, I am always open to conversation.

Best,

Justin

Justin G. Reden, Esq.
16885 Via Del Campo Court, Suite 320
San Diego, CA 92127
(619) 758-3869 – Office
(619) 417-5114 – Direct
(800) 746-5015 – Fax
jreden@redenriddell.com
www.redenriddell.com

From: Lemaster, David <DLeMaster@powayusd.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, July 19, 2023 4:33 PM
To:
Cc: Jimenez, James <jjimenez@powayusd.com>; Dayhoff, James <jdayhoff@powayusd.com>
Subject: RE: Appeal

Thank you for responding so quickly.  We can meet either at the district office, which is located at
15250 Avenue of Science, or at Del Norte High School, whichever is more convenient for you.
Let me know either way and I will arrange a room for us to meet.

Sincerely,



*** CAUTION: This email was sent from an EXTERNAL source. DO NOT CLICK any links or
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe. ***

You don't often get email from dlemaster@powayusd.com. Learn why this is important

Dave LeMaster

From:  
Sent: Wednesday, July 19, 2023 4:02 PM
To: Lemaster, David <DLeMaster@powayusd.com>
Cc: Jimenez, James <jjimenez@powayusd.com>; Dayhoff, James <jdayhoff@powayusd.com>
Subject: RE:  Appeal
 
NOTICE: This message originated from outside of PUSD. Please use caution when opening links
and attachments in this email.

David,

We are open to meet Monday at 2 PM.  What is the address?

From: Lemaster, David <DLeMaster@powayusd.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, July 18, 2023 3:56 PM
To: 
Cc: Jimenez, James <jjimenez@powayusd.com>; Dayhoff, James <jdayhoff@powayusd.com>
Subject:  Appeal
 

 

 
Allow me to introduce myself.  My name is Dave LeMaster and I serve as an Executive Director in the
Poway Unified School District.  I currently supervise middle and high schools and work with our
Director of Discipline and Attendance, Jamie Dayhoff.
 
Mr. Jimenez has asked me to follow up with you regarding your appeal and concerns with the
investigation and findings involving your daughter,   I am in receipt of your appeal
documents along with the supporting documents you sent Mr. Dayhoff. If there are any additional
documents or information you feel is relevant for me to have as part of this review, please share
them with me at your convenience. I have also reached out to the Del Norte administration
requesting any relevant information and documents.
 

I am available to meet on Monday, July 24th any time after 12:30.  If you would like to meet sooner, I
am available this Friday after 10:30. 
 
Sincerely,



Dave LeMaster
Executive Director Learning Support Services
Poway Unified School District
858-521-2831

This email, including any attachments, is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s) and may contain privileged and confidential
information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure or distr bution is prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the
sender by reply email and delete all copies of the original message.

The Poway Unified School District (PUSD) is an equal opportunity employer and does not discriminate in its employment practices or
education programs. For our full Nondiscrimination policies, please visit the PUSD website.

This email (and any files transmitted with it) is confidential and intended solely for use by the
addressee(s). If you received this email in error then please reply to the sender to let them know,
and then permanently delete the email (and any files transmitted with it). Thank you.
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August 8, 2023 

VIA EMAIL 

Justin Reden
16885 Via Del Campo Court, Suite 320
San Diego, CA 92127
jreden@redenriddell.com

Re:  / Poway Unified School District 

Dear Mr. Reden: 

This firm represents Poway Unified School District, and your July 23, 2023 email to David 
LeMaster, along with additional information provided by you/the  family, have been 
forwarded to me for review and response. Please direct all further inquiries regarding this matter 
to the undersigned. Your email and materials raise a few issues that will be addressed in this 
letter.

First, your clients purported to file an appeal, using a form that is applicable under District policy 
only to a suspension from school removal of  from ongoing instruction for 
adjustment purposes 48925(d).) A suspension of  was never 
threatened, announced, or contemplated.  was and still is given the option of confirming 

extracurricular activities, not from instruction, for the upcoming school year, by signing the 
document sent to her (and not the amended document her parents sent back). Therefore, . 

 willingness to 
 was not an acceptance of the proposition that the 

suspension appeal policy applies here. 

Second, even if a suspension was
rather significant misunderstanding of the due process associated with a suspension. There is no 
question that public school students have a property interest in attending school, but as the U.S. 
Supreme Court noted in its seminal student suspension case, Goss v. Lopez (1975) 419 U.S. 565, 

(Goss, supra, 419 U.S. at 577, quoting Morrissey v. Brewer (1972) 408 U.S. 471, 481.) The 
in Goss resulted in Education Code section 48911(b), which 

requires an informal meeting, general notice, and an opportunity to respond prior to a decision.
In Granowitz v. Redlands Unified School Dist. (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 349, for example, the 
Court of Appeal affirmed a five-day suspension of a student for sexual harassment because the 
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district complied with Section 48911, even though the school administrator refused to identify 
the students who made the accusations of harassment. The court relied heavily on Goss, and 
noted:

Before and after Goss, courts have consistently refused to impose stricter, 
-

proceedings. Instead, an informal meeting between the school official and a 
student or between the official and a student and his parents has been held to 
comport with due process.  

(Id. at 355-356, citing West v. Derby Unified School District No. 260 (10th Cir.2000) 206 F.3d 
1358, 1364; Charles S. v. Board of Education (1971) 20 Cal.App.3d 83, 92; Martin v. Shawano
Gresham School District (2002) 295 F.3d 701, 706 707; Smith v. Severn (7th Cir.1997) 129 F.3d 
419, 428; C.B. v. Driscoll (11th Cir.1996) 82 F.3d 383, 385 386.) In Granowitz 

 most of the alleged misconduct, and that he asserted his 
05 Cal.App.4th 

at 352, 353.) None of this was deemed to run afoul of Education Code section 48911 or the 
principles laid out in Goss. 

We do not question the general proposition that, prior to a suspension, a school official must 
conduct an informal investigation to gather information and hear from the student, but assertions 

for a short-term suspension from school 

under the Evidence Code, that 
the senses are required, that training is mandated, etc.) simply does not comport with the law.1

Finally, and most importantly, the issue here is not a suspension from school but participation in 
extracurricular activities, and the law on the subject is clear. The fundamental right to a public 
education does not include extracurricular activities, and California courts have firmly 
established that participation in extracurricular activities is a privilege and not a right. (Ryan v. 
California Interscholastic Federation (2001) 94 Cal.App.4th 1048; Steffes v. California 
Interscholastic Federation (1986) 176 Cal.App.3d 739 [rational basis test applied to equal 

he fact that public education is a fundamental right under the California 

1 The presumption that parents have a right to demand they be present when a student is questioned by a school 
administrator is also meritless. School officials have an obligation to notify parents at the time a student is 
suspended, but not before (see Educ. Code § 48911(d)), and after releasing a minor to a peace officer to remove the 
student from campus (see Educ. Code § 48906). For decades it has been established that even peace officers may 
interview student suspects or witnesses without parental contact or notification. (See 34 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 93 
(1953).) In fact, in 2004, Assembly Bill 1012 would have required parental notification when a school official made 
a student available for questioning by law enforcement, prior to questioning. The bill was vetoed by Governor 

-based law enforcement 

rejected the ass
Neither the law nor practical experience remotely supports that proposition (of an adversarial 

relationship), nor would I recommend reinforcing that proposition by deciding to adopt a local policy requiring 
parental notification and/or consent when the law does not require it.
October 19, 2004 Assembly Floor Analysis of AB 1012, available at the California Legislative Information website: 
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billAnalysisClient.xhtml?bill_id=200320040AB1012.)
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Constitution does not compel a finding that in California the right to participate in interscholastic 
athletics is also a fundamental right entitled to the highest degree of constitutional protection ];
Jones v. California Interscholastic Federation (1988) 197 Cal.App.3d 751. In Ryan the court 
was unequivocal: 

Neither the California Constitution nor California statutory law contains any 
provision that entitles students to an absolute right to participate in extracurricular 
activities and, precisely, in interscholastic athletics. Absent such support, the 
opportunity to participate in interscholastic athletic activities is a privilege, not a 
right or an entitlement of such dignity to warrant due process protection. Our 
conclusion is consistent with the overwhelming majority of other states whose 
appellate courts have held that students do not possess a constitutionally protected 
interest in their participation in extracurricular activities and, specifically, in 
interscholastic sports. [Citations.]

(Id. at 1061, and see id. at 1063 [Rejecting the proposition that Goss v. Lopez applies to 
Participation in interscholastic athletics, standing alone, is but one 

stick in the bundle of the educational process and does not rise to the level of a separate property 
or liberty interest to which a student is entitled and of which he or she cannot be deprived 

The District has the authority to require  to affirmatively commit to compliance with 
District, school, and CIF policy as a condition of the privilege of participating in extracurricular 
activities. Neither  nor her parents have the prerogative (let alone the right) to insist on 
amending that document, including amendments to include other students. It is, of course, 

choice whether she commits to compliance with existing expectations through signing 
the Alternative Means of Correction document originally sent to her which required a signature 
by July 7, 2023, and her failure to do so will result in a loss of extracurricular activity privileges 
for the upcoming school year including but not limited to athletic eligibility, attendance at 
athletic events (football, basketball games), dances, senior trips, student clubs, and activities up 
to and including graduation. The District will accept an executed Alternative Means of 
Correction document no later than Friday, August 14 at 12:00 p.m. or the loss of extracurricular 
activity privileges will remain. Additionally, whether or not she chooses to execute that 
document, as is the case with any other District student, if  at any time witnesses or is 
subjected to conduct by another student or students that is contrary to District, school, or CIF 
policy, she is encouraged to report it to school administration. 

Your request for another investigation of the circumstances leading to the Alternative Means of 
Correction document is denied. 

Very truly yours, 

ATKINSON, ANDELSON, LOYA, RUUD & ROMO 

Mark R. Bresee 
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JUSTIN G. REDEN

jreden@redenriddell.com

GREGORY S. REDEN
RETIRED

16885 Via Del Campo Court, Suite 320
San Diego, CA 92127

Telephone: (619) 758-3869
Facsimile: (800) 746-5015

www.redenriddell.com

MICHAEL J. RIDDELL

mriddell@redenriddell.com

COLLIN E. CRESAP

ccresap@ redenriddell.com

August 17, 2023

VIA EMAIL AND U.S. MAIL
Poway Unified School District
Board of Trustees
15250 Avenue of Science 
San Diego, CA 92128

Ginger Couvrette
gcourvrette@powayusd.com
Dr. Darshana Patel
dpatel@powayusd.com

-Ratcliff
moconnorratcliff@powayusd.com
Dr. Cindy Sytsma
csytsma@powayusd.com
Heather Plotzke
hplotzke@powayusd.com
Nirja Trivedi
nirjatrivedipusd@gmail.com

Re: adv. Poway Unified School District
Pre-Litigation
R&R Client:
R&R File No.: 9577.0001
Subject: Uniform Complaint Against Marian Phelps, et al.

To the Members of the PUSD Board of Trustees:

We have the privilege of representing PUSD student  and her incredible family. 

Superintendent Marian Phelps, student  and several key administrators within the 
Del Norte High School and PUSD hierarchy. We understand the depth of the document, but we 
urge you to consider every sentence, witness statement, image, and video with the gravity they 
deserve. The legacy of this Board and its unwavering commitment to ensure the highest ethical 
standards of its employees and administrators, while safeguarding students from bullying, 
harassment, and abuse, is at a pivotal juncture.

Under typical circumstances, we would direct this Uniform Complaint to Compliance Officer 
James Jimenez, as stipulated by AR 1312.3(a). However, given the unique nature of this case, we 

impartially process, 
investigate, and address the Uniform Complaint. Our primary concern stems from the fact that 
Superintendent Marian Phelps, who is central to this complaint, oversees Mr. Jimenez and his 
team, as well as the broader district staff with the exception of this Board. As our 
understanding goes, you are the sole authority to whom Mrs. Phelps is accountable. If there 
exists a policy or procedure tailored to such unique circumstances, we kindly request that you 
share it with us.



Poway Unified School District
Board of Education Members
August 17, 2023
R&R File No.: 9577.0001
Page 2

While apologizing in advance, we must emphasize the urgency of this matter. Just yesterday, on 
August 15, 2023, Principal Ty Eveleth communicated to my client a decision that profoundly 
affects her senior year, barring her from participating in all extracurricular activities for the 2023-
2024 academic year, including participation on her varsity softball team, and even her own 
commencement ceremony in June.

Many of you have children within the PUSD system, at least one of which may have experienced 
her own harassment and mistreatment at the hand of a PUSD administrator or employee. We are 
concerned this is a cultural norm within the district, perpetuated from the top down. We ask you 
to empathize with the position finds herself in, especially as she embarks on her senior year 
under such trying circumstances. The emotional and social toll this situation exacts on her is 
immeasurable, given the profound adversity she faces from those she was taught were there to 
support and protect her.

My commitment to defending the rights of young individuals against misuse of authority is 
unwavering, and I am resolute in my pursuit of fairness and justice for . I believe that you, 
too, have a golden opportunity to stand by her and champion what is just and right. While I am
diligently pursuing this matter independently, I would greatly value the opportunity to collaborate 
with you in safeguarding  interests, and ensuring her senior year experience is one we are 
all proud to have been part of.

In light of our concerns and the apparent absence of direct oversight regarding the subjects of the 
Uniform Complaint, we respectfully request that you appoint an entirely independent investigative 
team and legal counsel. This team should have no prior financial, professional, or other affiliations 
with PUSD or the individuals in question. There can be no risk of undue influence or bias. 
Concurrently, we suggest that you secure, without prior notification to the subjects under 
investigation, all electronic devices, social media accounts, emails, text messages, and other 
relevant communication channels that fall within PUSD's purview and public interest. Given the 
potential outcomes of this investigation, there's a conceivable risk that involved parties might be 
inclined to tamper with or misrepresent evidence. Taking these precautions would ensure the 
integrity of the investigation. Similarly, we ask that you take all reasonable steps to preserve and 
protect all potentially relevant information, communications, and evidence relating to the subject 
matter of this Uniform Complaint. 

Choosing to file this Uniform Complaint was a very tough decision for , made after 
significant introspection and many nights of lost sleep, tears, and fears.  embodies the values 

pillars. She holds a firm belief in your unwavering commitment to fostering a nurturing, safe, and 
equitable learning environment. This situation is one of the toughest things she has encountered in 
her life, she looks to you as a beacon of hope, trusting in your capacity to provide her with fair, 
and safe, harbor.
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In a way that was meant to instill fear and unease, was told that if she signed the Other 

sign it as the 
easy way out of this very difficult situation. She knows this forces her to go toe to toe with the 
most powerful woman in the School District Marian Phelps. I take immense pride in stating that 

 refusal to sign the OMCC stems from its inaccuracies and untruths it would essentially 
amount to a coerced confession. Her unwavering integrity prevents her from admitting to actions 
she did not commit. We firmly believe that if she were to seek your counsel on whether to sign 
such a false declaration, each of you would commend her resilience and advise against it, standing 
by her side.

In light of the OMCC presented by James Dayhoff, , on July 17, 2023, thoughtfully crafted 
and signed a version that was both respectful and accurate. This document unambiguously 
underscores her dedication to abstaining from any intentional acts of bullying, intimidation, 
harassment, or threats towards any student, including  She even demonstrated her 
commitment by agreeing to undertake a Restorative Lessons course. It's worth noting that  

 seems to have declined to sign the Agreement or agree to refrain from such acts
attorney, Mark Bresee, 
dismissed it by stating e prerogative or the right 

He 

for the meeting Dave LeMaster previously requested. Enclosed with this letter, is a true and correct
copy of the Agreement signed by  for your reference.  recently reiterated to me, her 
commitment to uphold the terms of the Agreement she signed, despite  apparent 
refusal to do the same.

On behalf of  we extend our deepest gratitude as we present this Uniform Complaint 
to you. We earnestly request your immediate and effective intervention to safeguard , 
ensuring that her rights and privileges remain intact in the face of a process that may not have 
afforded her the fairness she deserves.

Very truly yours,

REDEN & RIDDELL

Justin G. Reden, Esq.

(jreden@redenriddell.com)
JGR/tld

Enclosure: July 17, 2023 Agreement Signed by 
Uniform Complaint Marian Phelps, et al. 

cc: Clients [via email only]
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All Personnel BP 4119.24(a)
4219.24
4319.24

MAINTAINING APPROPRIATE ADULT-STUDENT INTERACTION

The Governing Board desires to provide a positive school environment that protects the safety 
and well-being of district students. The Board expects all adults with whom students may 
interact at school or in school-related activities, including employees, independent contractors, 
and volunteers, to maintain the highest professional and ethical standards in their interactions 
with students both within and outside the educational setting. Such adults shall not engage in 
unlawful or inappropriate interactions with students and shall avoid boundary-blurring behaviors 
that undermine trust in the adult-student relationship and lead to the appearance of impropriety.

(cf. 4119.21/4219.21/4319.21 - Professional Standards)

Employees are prohibited from entering into or attempting to form a romantic or sexual 
relationship with any student or engaging in sexual harassment of a student, including sexual 
advances, flirtations, requests for sexual favors, inappropriate comments about a student's body 
or appearance, or other verbal, visual, or physical conduct of a sexual nature.

(cf. 5145.7 - Sexual Harassment)

Adults shall not intrude on a student's physical or emotional boundaries unless necessary in an 
emergency or to serve a legitimate purpose related to instruction, counseling, student health, or 
student or staff safety.

Any employee who observes or has knowledge of another employee's violation of this policy 
shall report the information to the Superintendent and Associate Superintendent of Personnel 
Support Services or designee or appropriate agency for investigation pursuant to the applicable 
complaint procedures.  Other adults with knowledge of any violation of this policy are 
encouraged to report the violation to the Superintendent and Associate Superintendent of 
Personnel Support Services or designee. The Superintendent and the Associate Superintendent of 
Personnel Support Services or designee shall protect anyone who reports a violation from 
retaliation. Immediate intervention shall be implemented when necessary to protect student 
safety or the integrity of the investigation.

(cf. 1312.1 - Complaints Concerning District Employees)
(cf. 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures)
(cf. 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and Reporting)

Employees who engage in any conduct in violation of this policy, including retaliation against a 
person who reports the violation or participates in the complaint process, shall be subject to 
discipline, up to and including dismissal. Any other adult who violates this policy may be barred 
from school grounds and activities in accordance with law.  The Superintendent or Associate 
Superintendent of Personnel Support Services or designee may also notify law enforcement as 
appropriate.

(cf. 4117.7/4317.7 - Employment Status Reports)
(cf. 4118 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action



BP 4119.24(b)
4219.24
4319.24

MAINTAINING APPROPRIATE ADULT-STUDENT INTERACTION (continued)

(cf. 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action)

The district's employee code of conduct addressing interactions with students shall be provided 
to parents/guardians at the beginning of each school year and shall be posted on school and/or 
district web sites.  (Education Code 44050)

(cf. 1113 - District and School Web Sites)
(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications)

INAPPROPRIATE CONDUCT

Employees shall remain vigilant of their position of authority and not abuse it when relating with 
students. Examples of employee conduct that can undermine professional adult-student 
interactions or create the appearance of impropriety include, but are not limited to:

1. Initiating inappropriate physical contact

2. Being alone with a student outside of the view of others; i.e. classroom doors and blinds 
closed

3. Visiting a student's home or inviting a student to visit the employee's home without 
parent/guardian consent

4. Maintaining personal contact with a student that has no legitimate educational purpose, 
by phone, letter, electronic communications, or other means, without including the 
student's parent/guardian or the principal

When communicating electronically with students, employees shall use district 
equipment or technological resources when available. Employees shall not 
communicate with students through any medium that is designed to eliminate records 
of the communications. The Superintendent and the Associate Superintendent of 
Personnel Support Services or designee may monitor employee usage of district 
technology at any time without advance notice or consent.

(cf. 4040 - Employee Use of Technology)

5. Creating or participating in social networking sites for communication with students, 
other than those created by the district or for educational purposes, without the prior 
written approval of the principal or an administrator

6. Inviting or accepting requests from students, or former students who are minors, to 



BP 4119.24(c)
4219.24
4319.24

INAPPROPRATE CONDUCT (continued)

connect on personal social networking sites (e.g., "friending" or "following" on social
media), unless the site is dedicated to school business

7. Singling out a particular student for personal attention and friendship, which could 
include the giving of gifts and/or the assigning of nicknames to individual students

8. Socializing or spending time with students outside of school-sponsored events, except as 
participants in community activities

9. Sending or accompanying students on personal errands unrelated to any legitimate 
educational purpose

10. Transporting a student in a personal vehicle without prior authorization from a parent or 
legal guardian

11. Disclosing personal, family, or other private matters to students or sharing personal 
secrets with students

Legal Reference:
EDUCATION CODE
44030.5  Employment status reports
44050  Employee code of conduct; employee interactions with students
44242.5  Reports and review of alleged misconduct
44940  Sex offenses and narcotic offenses; compulsory leave of absence
48980  Parental notifications
PENAL CODE
11164-11174.3  Child Abuse and Neglect Reporting Act
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5
80303  Reports of change in employment status, alleged misconduct
80304  Notice of sexual misconduct

Policy POWAY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
adopted: October 10, 2019 Poway, California
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All Personnel BP 4119.21(a) 
4219.21 

PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS 4319.21 
 
 

The Governing Board expects district employees to maintain the highest ethical standards, exhibit 
professional behavior, follow district policies and regulations, abide by state and federal laws, and 
exercise good judgment when interacting with students and other members of the school 
community. Employee conduct should enhance the integrity of the district, advance the goals of 
the district's educational programs, and contribute to a positive school climate. 

 
The Board encourages district employees to accept as guiding principles the professional standards 
and codes of ethics adopted by educational or professional associations to which they may belong. 

 
Each employee should make a commitment to acquire the knowledge and skills necessary to fulfill 
their responsibilities and should focus on their contribution to the learning and achievement of 
district students. 

 
Inappropriate employee conduct includes, but is not limited to: 

1. Engaging in any conduct that endangers students, staff, or others, including, but not limited 
to, physical violence, threats of violence, or possession of a firearm or other weapon 

 
2. Engaging in harassing or discriminatory behavior towards students, parents/guardians, 

staff, or community members, or failing or refusing to intervene when an act of 
discrimination, harassment, intimidation, or bullying against a student is observed 

 
3. Physically abusing, sexually abusing, neglecting, or otherwise willfully harming or 

injuring a child 
 
4. Engaging in inappropriate socialization or fraternization with a student or soliciting, 

encouraging, or maintaining an inappropriate written, verbal, or physical relationship with 
a student 

 
5. Possessing or viewing any pornography on school grounds, or possessing or viewing child 

pornography or other imagery portraying children in a sexualized manner at any time 
 
6. Using profane, obscene, or abusive language against students, parents/guardians, staff, or 

community members 
 
7. Willfully disrupting district or school operations by loud or unreasonable noise or other 

action 
 
8. Using tobacco, alcohol, or an illegal or unauthorized substance, or possessing or 

distributing any controlled substance, while in the workplace or at a school-sponsored 
activity 

  



 BP 4119.21(b) 
4219.21 

 4319.21 
PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS (continued) 

 
 

9. Dishonesty with students, parents/guardians, staff, or members of the public, including, but 
not limited to, falsification of information in employment records or other school records 

 
10. Divulging confidential information about students, district employees, or district 

operations to persons not authorized to receive the information 
 
11. Using district equipment or other district resources for the employee's own commercial 

purposes or for political activities 

12. Using district equipment or communications devices for personal purposes while on duty, 
except in an emergency, during scheduled work breaks, or for personal necessity 

 
Employees shall be notified that computer files and all electronic communications, 
including, but not limited to, email and voice mail, are not private. To ensure proper use, 
the Superintendent or designee may monitor employee usage of district technological 
resources at any time without the employee's consent. 

 
13. Causing damage to or engaging in theft of property belonging to students, staff, or the 

district 
 
14. Wearing inappropriate attire 

 
An employee who observes or has evidence of another employee's inappropriate conduct shall 
immediately report such conduct to the principal or Superintendent or designee. An employee who 
has knowledge of or suspects child abuse or neglect shall file a report pursuant to the district's 
child abuse reporting procedures as detailed in AR 5141.4 - Child Abuse Prevention and 
Reporting. 

 
Any reports of employee misconduct shall be promptly investigated. Any employee who is found 
to have engaged in inappropriate conduct in violation of law or Board policy shall be subject to 
disciplinary action and, in the case of a certificated employee, may be subject to a report to the 
Commission on Teacher Credentialing. The Superintendent or designee shall notify local law 
enforcement as appropriate. 

 
An employee who has knowledge of but fails to report inappropriate employee conduct may also 
be subject to discipline. 

 

The district prohibits retaliation against anyone who files a complaint against an employee or 
reports an employee's inappropriate conduct. Any employee who retaliates against any such 
complainant, reporter, or other participant in the district's complaint process shall be subject to 
discipline. 



 BP 4119.21(c) 
4219.21 

 4319.21 
PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS (continued) 
 

 

shall be provided to parents/guardians at the beginning of each school year and shall be posted on 
school and/or district web sites. (Education Code 44050) 
 
Certificated Staff 
 
In addition to instructional duties, responsibilities and tasks which are primary, teachers are 
responsible, secondarily, for related instructional, co-curricular, and student social and 
recreational activities. Participation in such activities is required as a condition of employment 
and includes, but is not limited to, the following activities:  

 
1. Preparation of student learning activities  

 
2. Tutorial and guidance assistance to students  

 
3. Student diagnostic and assessment activities  
 
4. School and student record maintenance  
 
5. Parent and student conferences  
 
6. Meetings and conferences with staff members 
  
7. Teacher workshops and institutes 

 
8. Districtwide committees 

 
9. PTA/PTSA/Foundation functions, Back-to-School Nights, and other meetings with parents 

  
10. Faculty meetings (both school and District) 
  
11. Sponsor, chaperone, and supervise student activities including athletic contests, recitals, 
 theatrical presentations, dances, and social activities 
 
12. Supervision responsibilities which may include, before and after school, recess/nutrition 
 breaks, and restrooms 
  
13. Other school-related meetings, functions, and responsibilities as designated by the 
 Superintendent or principal  
 
14. All responsibilities and tasks required in position description 

 
Legal Reference: (see next page) 



 BP 4119.21(d) 
4219.21 

 4319.21 
PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS (continued) 
 
 

Policy Reference Disclaimer:  
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 
board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject matter 
of the policy. 
 
Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 
200-262.4 Prohibition of discrimination 
44242.5 Reports and review of alleged misconduct 
PENAL CODE 
11164-11174.4 Child Abuse and Neglect Reporting Act 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 
80303 Reports of dismissal, resignation and other terminations for alleged misconduct 
80331-80338 Rules of conduct for professional educators 

 
Management Resources: 

COMMISSION ON TEACHER CREDENTIALING PUBLICATIONS 
California Professional Standards for Educational Leaders, February 2014 
California Standards for the Teaching Profession, 2009 
COUNCIL OF CHIEF STATE SCHOOL OFFICERS PUBLICATIONS 
Educational Leadership Policy Standards: ISLLC 2008, 2008 
NATIONAL EDUCATION ASSOCIATION PUBLICATIONS 
Code of Ethics of the Education Profession, 1975 
WESTED PUBLICATIONS 
Moving Leadership Standards into Everyday Work: Descriptions of Practice, 2003 
WEB SITES 
CSBA: http://www.csba.org 
Association of California School Administrators: http://www.acsa.org 
California Department of Education: http://www.cde.ca.gov 
California Federation of Teachers: http://www.cft.org 
California School Employees Association: http://www.csea.com 
California Teachers Association: http://www.cta.org 
Commission on Teacher Credentialing: http://www.ctc.ca.gov 
Council of Chief State School Officers: http://www.ccsso.org 
WestEd: http://www.WestEd.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Policy POWAY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
adopted: February 8, 2018 San Diego, California 
updated: June 15, 2023 
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Instruction
BP 6145(a)

EXTRACURRICULAR AND COCURRICULAR ACTIVITIES 

The Governing Board recognizes that extracurricular and cocurricular activities enrich the 
educational and social development of students and enhance students' connectedness with the 
schools. The district shall encourage and support student participation in extracurricular and 
cocurricular activities without compromising the integrity and purpose of the educational program. 

Prerequisites for student participation in extracurricular and cocurricular activities shall be limited 
to those that have been demonstrated to be essential to the success of the activity. A district shall 
not provide or otherwise carry out any of its extracurricular or activities separately or require or 
refuse participation therein by any of its pupils on the basis of sex, sexual orientation, gender, 
ethnic group identification, race, ancestry, national origin, religion, color, or mental or physical 
disability.  (5 CCR 4925) 
 
Any complaint alleging unlawful discrimination in the district's extracurricular or cocurricular 
programs or activities shall be filed in accordance with BP/AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint 
Procedures.

Unless specifically authorized by law, no student shall be charged a fee for his/her participation in 
educational activities, including extracurricular and cocurricular activities and materials or 
equipment related to such activities. (Education Code 49010, 49011)

Eligibility Requirements 

To be eligible to participate in extracurricular and cocurricular activities, students in grades 7-12 
must demonstrate satisfactory educational progress in the previous grading period, including, but 
not limited to:  (Education Code 35160.5)

1. Maintenance of a minimum of 2.0 grade point average on a 4.0 scale in all enrolled classes
2. Maintenance of minimum progress toward meeting high school graduation requirements 

The Superintendent or designee may grant ineligible students a probationary period not to exceed 
one semester.  Students granted probationary eligibility must meet the required standards by the 
end of the probationary period in order to remain eligible for participation. (Education Code 
35160.5) 

Any decision regarding the eligibility of a homeless student, foster youth, or child of an active 
duty military family for extracurricular or cocurricular activities shall be made by the 
Superintendent or designee in accordance with Education Code 48850 and 49701.

The Superintendent or designee may revoke a student's eligibility for participation in 
extracurricular and cocurricular activities when the student's poor citizenship is serious enough to 
warrant loss of this privilege.



BP 6145(b)
EXTRACURRICULAR AND COCURRICULAR ACTIVITIES (continued)

Student Conduct at Extracurricular/Cocurricular Events

When attending or participating in extracurricular and cocurricular activities on or off campus, 
district students are subject to district policies and regulations relating to student conduct.  Students 
who violate district policies and regulations may be subject to discipline including, but not limited 
to, suspension, expulsion, transfer to alternative programs, or denial of participation in 
extracurricular or cocurricular activities in accordance with Board policy and administrative 
regulation. When appropriate, the Superintendent or designee shall notify local law enforcement. 

Annual Policy Review

The Board shall annually review this policy and implementing regulations.

Legal Reference: (see next page) 

 



BP 6145(c) 
EXTRACURRICULAR AND COCURRICULAR ACTIVITIES  (continued) 

 
Policy Reference Disclaimer:  
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 
board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 
matter of the policy.

Legal Reference: 
EDUCATION CODE
35145  Public meetings 
35160.5  District policy rules and regulations; requirements; matters subject to regulation 
35179  Interscholastic athletics; associations or consortia 
35181  Students' responsibilities 
48850  Participation of foster youth in extracurricular activities and interscholastic sports 
48930-48938  Student organizations 
49024  Activity Supervisor Clearance Certificate 
49700-49704  Education of children of military families 
CALIFORNIA CONSTITUTION 
Article 9, Section 5 Common school system 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 
350  Fees not permitted 
4900-4965  Nondiscrimination in elementary and secondary education programs receiving state financial 
assistance 
5531  Supervision of extracurricular activities of pupils 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 42 
2000h-2-2000h-6  Title IX, 1972 Education Act Amendments 
COURT DECISIONS 
Hartzell v. Connell, (1984) 35 Cal. 3d 899 
 

Management Resources: 
CSBA PUBLICATIONS 
Student Fees Litigation Update, ELA Advisory, May 20, 2011 
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 
Pupil Fees, Deposits, or Other Charges, Fiscal Management Advisory 11-01, November 9, 2011 
CALIFORNIA TASK FORCE REPORT TO THE LEGISLATURE 
Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children:  Preliminary Final Report, March 2009 
COMMISSION ON TEACHER CREDENTIALING CODED CORRESPONDENCE
10-11 Information on Assembly Bill 346 Concerning the Activity Supervisor Clearance Certificate (ASCC), 
July 20, 2010 
WEB SITES 
CSBA: http://www.csba.org 
California Association of Directors of Activities:  http://www.cadal.org 
California Department of Education:  http://www.cde.ca.gov 
Commission on Teacher Credentialing: http://www.ctc.ca.gov 
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Students BP 5144(a)

DISCIPLINE

The Governing Board is committed to providing a safe, supportive, and positive school 
environment which is conducive to student learning and achievement and desires to prepare 
students for responsible citizenship by fostering self-discipline and personal responsibility. The 
Board believes that high expectations for student behavior, use of effective school and classroom 
management strategies, provision of appropriate intervention and support, and parent/guardian
involvement can minimize the need for disciplinary measures that exclude students from 
instruction as a means for correcting student misbehavior.

(cf. 5113.1 – Chronic Absence and Truancy)
(cf. 5131 - Conduct)
(cf. 5131.1 - Bus Conduct) 
(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying)
(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate)
(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation) 
(cf. 5145.9 - Hate-Motivated Behavior)
(cf. 6020 - Parent Involvement)

The Superintendent or designee shall develop effective, age-appropriate strategies for maintaining
a positive school climate and correcting student misbehavior at district schools. The strategies shall 
focus on providing students with needed supports; communicating clear, appropriate, and 
consistent expectations and consequences for student conduct; and ensuring equity and continuous 
improvement in the implementation of district discipline policies and practices.

(cf. 5138 - Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation)
(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services)

In addition, the Superintendent or designee's strategies for correcting student misconduct shall 
reflect the Board's preference for the use of positive interventions and alternative disciplinary 
measures over exclusionary discipline measures.

Disciplinary measures that may result in loss of instructional time or cause students to be 
disengaged from school, such as detention, suspension, and expulsion, shall be imposed only when 
required or permitted by law or when other means of correction have been documented to have 
failed. (Education Code 48900.5)

(cf. 5020 - Parent Rights and Responsibilities)
(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process)
(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 
(cf. 6159.4 - Behavioral Interventions for Special Education Students)
(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams)

School personnel and volunteers shall not allow any disciplinary action taken against a student to 
result in the denial or delay of a school meal.  (Education Code 49557.5)

(cf. 3550 - Food Service/Child Nutrition Program) 
(cf. 3551 - Food Service Operations/Cafeteria Fund) 
(cf. 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals)



BP 5144(b)
DISCIPLINE (continued)

Seclusion and behavioral restraint are prohibited as a means of discipline and shall not be used to 
correct student behavior except as permitted pursuant to Education Code 49005.4 and in accordance 
with district regulations.  (Education Code 49005.2)

(cf. 5131.41 – Use of Seclusion and Restraint)

The Superintendent or designee shall create a model discipline matrix that lists violations and the 
consequences for each as allowed by law.

The administrative staff at each school may develop disciplinary rules to meet the school's 
particular needs consistent with law, Board policy, and district regulations. The Board, at anopen 
meeting, shall review the approved school discipline rules for consistency with Board policy and 
state law. Site-level disciplinary rules shall be included in the district's comprehensive safety plan. 
(Education Code 35291.5, 32282)

(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 
(cf. 9320 - Meetings and Notices)

At all times, the safety of students and staff and the maintenance of an orderly school environment 
shall be priorities in determining appropriate discipline. When misconduct occurs, staff shall 
attempt to identify the causes of the student's behavior and implement appropriate discipline. 
When choosing between different disciplinary strategies, staff shall consider the effect of each 
option on the student's health, well-being, and opportunity to learn.

Staff shall enforce disciplinary rules fairly, consistently, and in accordance with the district's 
nondiscrimination policies.

(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 
(cf. 0415 – Equity)
(cf. 5145.3 - Nondiscrimination/Harassment)
(cf. 5145.7 - Sexual Harassment)

The Superintendent or designee shall provide professional development as necessary to assist staff 
in developing the skills needed to effectively and equitably implement the disciplinary strategies 
adopted for district schools, including, but not limited to, knowledge of school and classroom 
management skills and their consistent application, effective accountability and positive 
intervention techniques, and the tools to form strong, cooperative relationships with
parents/guardians.

(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 
(cf. 4231 - Staff Development) 
(cf. 4331 - Staff Development)

District goals for improving school climate, based on suspension and expulsion rates, surveys of 
students, staff, and parents/guardians regarding their sense of school safety and connectedness to 
the school community, and other local measures, shall be included in the district's local control 
and accountability plan, as required by law.



BP 5144(c)
DISCIPLINE (continued)

(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan) 
(cf. 3100 – Budget)

At the beginning of each school year, the Superintendent or designee shall report to the Board 
regarding disciplinary strategies used in district schools in the immediately preceding school year 
and their effect on student learning.

Legal Reference:
EDUCATION CODE
32280-32289 School safety plans 
35146 Closed sessions
35291 Rules
35291.5-35291.7 School-adopted discipline rules 
37223 Weekend classes
44807.5 Restriction from recess
48900-48926 Suspension and expulsion 
48980-48985 Notification of parent/guardian 
49005-49006.4 Seclusion and restraint
49330-49335 Injurious objects
49550-49564.5 Meals for needy students
52060-52077 Local control and accountability plan 
CIVIL CODE
1714.1 Parental liability for child's misconduct 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5
307 Participation in school activities until departure of bus
353 Detention after school
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20
1400-1482 Individuals with Disabilities Education Act
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 29
794 Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 42
1751-1769j School Lunch Program
1773 School Breakfast Program

Management Resources: (see next page)



BP 5144(d)
DISCIPLINE (continued)

Management Resources:
CSBA PUBLICATIONS
Recent Legislation on Discipline: AB 240, Fact Sheet, March 2015
The Case for Reducing Out-of-School Suspensions and Expulsions, Fact Sheet, April 2014
Providing a Safe, Nondiscriminatory School Environment for Transgender and Gender-Nonconforming 
Students, Policy Brief, February 2014
Safe Schools: Strategies for Governing Boards to Ensure Student Success, 2011 
Maximizing Opportunities for Physical Activity during the School Day, Fact Sheet, 2009 
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PROGRAM ADVISORIES
Classroom Management: A California Resource Guide for Teachers and Administrators of Elementary and 
Secondary Schools, 2000
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, OFFICE FOR CIVIL RIGHTS PUBLICATIONS
Dear Colleague Letter on the Nondiscriminatory Administration of School Discipline, January 2014 
WEB SITES
CSBA: http://www.csba.org
California Department of Education: http://www.cde.ca.gov
Public Counsel: http://www.fixschooldiscipline.org
U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights: http://www.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr
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